
AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

YECA GOVERNING BOARD 
Yolo Emergency Communications Agency, 35 N. Cottonwood Street, Woodland, CA 95695 

June 6, 2018 
2:00 P.M. Public Session 

ALL ITEMS ARE FOR ACTION UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED WITH AN ASTERISK (*) 

1. Call to Order (2:00 PM)

2. Public Comment *
Speakers must state their name and city of residence for the record and limit their remarks to 
three minutes.  Members of the public audience may address the Governing Board on any item 
not on today’s agenda. No response is required and no action can be taken, however, the 
Governing Board may add the item to the agenda of a future meeting. 

3. Announcements
a. Resolution:

i. Mike Bowler retirement effective July 16, 2018, after serving almost 18 years
with YECA

b. UCD Fire contract for dispatch services to be implemented July 1st

c. YECA’s new website – demo

4. Approval of the Agenda

5. Consent Agenda
Consent Agenda items are considered to be routine and will be considered for adoption by one 
motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a member of the Governing 
Board, member of the audience, or staff requests that the Governing Board remove an item. If 
an item is removed, it will be discussed in the order in which it appears on the Agenda. 

a. Approval of the Minutes from the April 4, 2018, Regular Meeting
b. Operations Division Report
c. Current Year Budget Status Update

6. Radio Update for Rumsey Canyon Area & Grey Fire Simulcast Contingency to Green Fire
– Information Only

a. Staff summary report outlining the details and status of radio projects

Page 1 of 28



7. Text-to-911 Information and Project Update – Information Only
a. Staff summary report outlining the details of the project and key dates

8. New MOU W/Yolo County Dispatchers Association (YCDA) & Non-Represented 
Compensation Packages – Voted Item

a. Staff Summary for New 3-Year MOU with YCDA
b. YECA & YCDA MOU Agreement View Attachment
c. New Non-Represented Compensation & Benefits Packages
d. New Agency Salary Schedules
e. New Agency Summary of Benefits

9. FY18/19 Budget Proposal Process – Voted Item
a. FY18/19 Proposed Budget
b. FY18/19 Proposed CIP
c. FY18/19 Proposed Position Table

10. Next Scheduled JPA Board Meeting TBD

11. Items for Future Agenda
a. Elections for Chair & Co-Chair Assignments for FY19

12. Adjournment
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing agenda was available for public review and 
posted on/or before June 1, 2018 on the bulletin board outside of the Yolo County, Erwin Meier 
Adminis-tration Center, 625 Court St., Woodland, California and on the agency website: http://
www.yolo911.org/BoardCalendar2018.html 

**The meeting room is wheelchair accessible and disabled parking is available.  If you are a person 
with a disability and you need disability related accommodations to attend the meeting, please contact 
Corina Macias at (530) 666-8919 or (530) 666-8909 (fax).  Requests for accommodations must be made 
at least two full business days before the start of the meeting. ** 

Page 2 of 28

http://www.yeca911.org/BoardCalendar2018.html


Agenda Item: 5.a 
YOLO EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY (YECA) 

GOVERNING BOARD 
April 4, 2018 
MINUTES 

The YECA Governing Board met on Wednesday, April 4, 2018 at Winters City Hall, 318 First Street, 
Winters.  Chair Gary Fredericksen called the meeting to order at 2:02 p.m. 

PRESENT: Primary Board Members: Gary Fredericksen, Yocha Dehe Wintun Nation, Tom 
McDonald, City of West Sacramento, John Donlevy, City of Winters, Tom Lopez, Yolo 
County, Dena Humphrey, YECA Executive Director.  

ABSENT: Luis Soler, City of Woodland, 

Entry No.2  

Minute Order No. 2018-17: Public Comment 

None 

Entry No. 3  

Minute Order No. 2018-18 

Announcements –  

a. Proclamation “National Public Safety Telecommunications Week April 8th - 14th”
- YECA Chair Board Member, Gary Fredericksen-Yocha Dehe Wintun Nation
recognized National Public Safety Telecommunications Week by releasing an official
proclamation.

b. YECA 2017 Dispatcher of the Year “Laura Swink”
- Chair Board Member, Gary Fredericksen-Yocha Dehe Wintun Nation congratulated
Laura Swink as this year’s YECA Dispatcher of the Year.
Comments:  Board Members individually communicated their appreciation and
congratulated Laura Swink in a well deserve honor as “Dispatcher of the Year 2017.”

c. YECA would like to warmly thank the Yolo County Firefighters Association for their
continued support and generous donation for a corporate sponsorship to this year’s
Dispatcher’s Banquet.

MOTION: Lopez SECOND: McDonald AYES: Fredericksen, Donlevy, McDonald, Lopez, 

Entry No. 4 

Minute Order No. 2018-19; Approval of Agenda 

The Agenda approved as presented.  

MOTION: Donlevy SECOND: Lopez AYES: McDonald, Fredericksen, Lopez, Donlevy 

Entry No. 5 -     

Minute Order No. 2018-20; Approval of Consent Agenda 

The Consent Agenda approved as presented.    

a. Approval of the Minutes from the February 7, 2018 Regular Meeting & February 23, 2018,
Special Session – Closed Meeting

b. Operations Division report Page 3 of 28



c. Current year Budget Status Update
d. New personnel Policy for Re-Hires

Discussion: Chair Gary Fredericksen would like a breakdown of statistics from Operations report to show 
actuals raw data into real time Fire Dispatch, PD/Sheriff Prioritization response times, from the time call 
received to dispatched agency response to arrivals.  Also shared if the use of “FirstWatch APP” would provide 
a more detail report to show operational performance vs the new CAD system.   A comparison has been 
requested to be presented.  

MOTION: Lopez SECOND: McDonald AYES: Donlevy, Fredericksen, McDonald, Lopez 

Entry No. 6 
Minute Order No. 2018-21;  
Information Technology Division Re-Structure – Voted Item – Approved 

Dena Humphrey presented – Due to IT Manager retirement, proposing division restructure to 
converting one (1) IT Specialist II position to a Systems Administrator position and downgrading the IT 
Specialist II to an IT Specialist position.  There would be minimal costs for the restructure as one position was 
upgraded, while the other position was downgraded for a wash.  Position descriptions were provided for all 
three positions.   A qualification process for the IT Manager position was completed Wednesday March 28, 
2018 and resulted in YECA having viable candidates for an internal recruitment. The restructuring will also 
present AB1487 CALPERS clean up to eliminate “Out of class pay” for duties under the IT Specialist II to the 
new Systems Administrator position reflecting the out of class pay incorporated into the new salary range.  All 
new positions would become effective July 1st.   

MOTION P: Lopez SECOND: McDonald AYES: Donlevy, Fredericksen, McDonald, Lopez 

Entry No. 7 Nokia Multiplexer Project Status Update for Microwave System – Info Only 
Minute Order No. 2018-22;  

Billy Keen I.T. Specialist II presented – a summary of the project details for the Nokia Multiplexer 
project migration.  He stated, the project was planned over a 6-month process, remained within budget, and 
was successfully completed Feb 2018.  Comments: Executive Director Dena Humphrey commended the IT 
group & CSI Telecommunications for their effort towards the successful completion of the project and for 
remaining within budget on the project, “it was a great success.”      

Entry No. 8 

Closed Session –   
Board Chair Gary Frederickson adjourned the meeting to Closed Session at 2:32 pm 

a. Conference with Labor Negotiator (CG54957.6) Agency Representative: Darrell Murray
Employee Organization: Yolo Communications Dispatchers Association (YCDA)

 The Board gave direction to the labor negotiator. 

Open Session resumed 2:58 pm  

Entry No. 9 

Next Scheduled JPA Board Meeting May 2, 2018 @ YECA 35 N. Cottonwood Street, Woodland 

Entry No. 10 

Items for Future Agenda  

a. Text to 9-1-1
b. Labor Negotiations
MOTION: Donlevy SECOND: McDonald AYES: Lopez, Fredericksen, McDonald, Donlevy

Meeting Adjourned 3:00 p.m. 
Minutes submitted by: Eloise Austin, Recording Secretary   

Page 4 of 28



18%

15%
67%

JUNE STAFFING
Vacancies In-Training Cross-Trained

STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item: 5.b 

Date:  June 6, 2018 

To:  YECA Governing Board 

Thru:  Dena Humphrey, Executive Director 

From:  Leah Goodwin, Operations Manager 

Subject: March & April Combined Operations Division Report 

Recommendation: No action required; information only. 

Summary: Operations staff is currently engaged in the following: 

Staffing: 

1. Out of 38 funded operations positions:

Classification Funded Vacant 
Supervisor 4 0 
Dispatcher III 4 0 
Dispatcher I/II 26 6 
Dispatch 
Assistant 4 0 

TOTAL 38 6 

a. Karissa Merrill has completed training on the West Sacramento Police console (4th radio);
completing her cross-training.

b. Shawanda Peoples has completed training on the Woodland Police console (3rd radio) and has
begun training the Fire console May 29, 2018 (4th and final radio).

c. Brenda Bryant has completed training on the West Sacramento Police console and has begun
training on the Fire Console May 1, 2018 (3rd radio).

d. Rachael Nakasu has completed training in the call taking phase and is scheduled to begin
training on Yolo County Sheriff/Winters Police console June 6, 2018 (1st radio).

e. Bethany Grace is currently training on the Yolo County Sheriff/Winters Police console (1st

radio).
f. Jennie Wilson has completed training in the call taking phase and is scheduled to begin

training on the Woodland Police console June 5, 2018 (1st radio).

2. 4 candidates are in the background phase of the selection process; scheduled to begin in the June
24, 2018 Academy.

Page 5 of 28



Statistical Information: 

Monthly Phone Statistics:  

Jan Feb Mar Apr YTD 
9-1-1 3,979 3,778 4,298 4,153 16,208 
7-Digit
Emergency 614 590 653 799 2,656 
AMR 97 75 101 112 385 
West Sacramento 3,847 3,490 4,033 3,737 15,107 
Winters 266 301 295 307 1,169 
Woodland 4,612 4,291 4,837 4,545 18,285 
Yolo 5,093 4,816 4,818 5,047 19,774 
Outgoing 5,639 5,455 5,694 5,398 22,186 

TOTAL 24,147 22,796 24,729 24,098 95,770 

Monthly CAD Events: 

Jan Feb Mar Apr YTD 
West Sacramento 

TOTAL 5,915 5,344 5,690 5,592 22,541 
Winters 

TOTAL 801 799 767 799 3,166 
Woodland 

TOTAL 6,498 5,877 6,442 5,933 24,750 
Yolo 

TOTAL 3,551 3,804 3,632 3,656 14,643 
Yocha Dehe 

TOTAL 35 43 33 39 150 
Arbuckle 

TOTAL 27 25 39 31 122 
Outside Agency/non-geo 
validated 

TOTAL  43  85  12 61 201 
GRAND TOTAL 16,870 15,977 16,615 16,111 65,573 

Page 6 of 28



Fire CAD Events: 

Jan Feb Mar Apr YTD 
West 
Sacramento 

Fire 294 306 330 341 1,271 
Medical 513 402 500 440 1,855 
TOTAL 807 708 830 781 3,126 

Winters 
Fire 51 78 53 76 258 

Medical 27 13 39 35 114 
TOTAL 78 91 92 111 372 

Woodland 
Fire 322 350 339 346 1,357 

Medical 422 324 390 343 1,479 
TOTAL 744 674 729 689 2,836 

Yolo 
Fire 350 880 649 660 2,539 

Medical 77 75 116 68 336 
TOTAL 427 955 765 728 2,875 

Yocha Dehe 
Fire 4 14 9 12 39 

Medical 31 29 24 27 111 
TOTAL 35 43 33 39 150 

Arbuckle 
Fire 13 12 20 16 61 

Medical 14 13 19 15 61 
TOTAL 27 25 39 31 122 

ALL 
Fire 1,034 1,640 1,400 1,451 5,525 

Medical 1,084 856 1,088 928 3,956 
TOTAL 2,118 2,496 2,488 2,379 9,481 

CLETS Inquires/Returns: 

Jan Feb Mar Apr YTD 
Inquiries 37,154 33,930 32,686 32,134 135,904 
Returns 60,046 54,836 52,825 51,933 219,640 

Page 7 of 28



Confidential Records Requests (Audio & CAD Print out): 

Jan Feb Mar Apr YTD 
196 62 113 110 481 

After-Hours Records Entries: 

Jan Feb Mar Apr YTD 
West 
Sacramento 337 325 307 288 1,257 
Winters 44 40 21 26 131 
Woodland 496 303 395 356 1,550 

TOTAL 877 668 723 670 2,938 

Projects: 

1. Text to 9-1-1
a. Board Summary

2. Monthly Division Reports – additional request of (working with IT):
a. Time elements:

i. of call pick-up (first key-stroke),
ii. to pending,

iii. to dispatch time.
b. Break down reports by:

i. type (i.e. fire/medical/law)
ii. priority

iii. other factors to consider
1. unit availability
2. complexity of call

3. EMD-QA Implementation
a. IOP Revisions
b. All PAI’s (pre-arrival instructions) being reviewed

4. IOP Review
5. Policy Manual Revisions/Re-format – LAW Manual complete.
6. Evacuation Plan

a. Utilizing existing resources; completed.
7. Records After-Hours Responsibilities Group

a. Records Group formed and will meet quarterly.
8. Recruitment Plan

a. 4 Candidates in background for June 24, 2018 Academy.
b. Next recruitment scheduled for March 2019 Academy.

9. Staffing Study
10. 2018 In-Service Training Plan

a. 2018 Law In-Service Training scheduled
b. CTO (Communications Training Officer) scheduled
c. 2018 Pre and Post-Fire Season

Page 8 of 28



d. Funding for annual EMD training/exploring options (upgrade to existing
software)

11. Mentoring Program
12. Radio Procedures Training

a. WSP training completed
13. UCD Fire Department Migration

a. Dispatch staff tours & training scheduled
b. Equipment testing scheduled
c. Response plan reviews scheduled
d. Call transfer procedures draft completed for review
e. UCD FD staff demo and tours scheduled
f. On target for July 1 migration

Page 9 of 28



    Agenda Item: 5.c 

YECA BUDGET MANAGEMENT SUMMARY
2017 / 2018    As of 4/30/18

8% 17% 25% 33% 42% 50% 58% 67% 75% 83% 92% 100%
Line item JUL-17 AUG-17 SEPT-17 OCT-17 NOV-17 DEC-17 JAN-18 FEB-18 MAR-18 APR-18 MAY-18 JUN-18

360 360-1 ADMINISTRATION
Appropriations 2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$          2,383,473$  2,383,473$    
Expenditures 101,557$             242,728$             316,144$             427,128$             818,920$             893,046$             1,003,820$          1,163,459$          1,303,754$          1,486,862$          -$                -$  
Percent Expended 4% 10% 13% 18% 34% 37% 42% 49% 55% 62% 0% 0%

360 360-2 OPERATIONS - DISPATCH

Appropriations 4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$          4,084,834$  4,084,834$    
Expenditures 233,023$             841,507$             969,892$             1,201,224$          1,721,791$          1,782,369$          2,007,219$          2,452,970$          2,751,761$          2,955,552$          -$                -$  
Percent Expended 6% 21% 24% 29% 42% 44% 49% 60% 67% 72% 0% 0%

TOTAL for all budget units - B/U 360-1 Administration; 360-2 Operations Dispatch; 
Appropriations 6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$  6,468,307$    
Expenditures 334,580$             1,084,235$          1,286,036$          1,628,351$          2,540,711$          2,675,414$          3,011,039$          3,616,428$          4,055,515$          4,442,414$          -$                -$
Unencumbered 6,133,727$          5,384,072$          5,182,271$          4,839,956$          3,927,596$          3,792,893$          3,457,268$          2,851,879$          2,412,792$          2,025,893$          6,468,307$ 6,468,307$    
Percent Expended 5% 17% 20% 25% 39% 41% 47% 56% 63% 69% 0% 0%
Estimated Revenue 6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          6,468,307$          4,084,834$  4,084,834$    
Realized Revenue 493,207$             2,251,232$          2,313,871$          2,785,654$          2,813,681$          3,959,884$          3,959,884$          4,011,207$          4,995,529$          5,037,690$          -$                -$                   
Unrealized Revenue 5,975,100$          4,217,075$          4,154,436$          3,682,653$          3,654,626$          2,508,423$          2,508,423$          2,457,100$          1,472,778$          1,430,617$          4,084,834$ 4,084,834$    
Percent Realized 8% 35% 36% 43% 43% 61% 61% 62% 77% 78% 0% 0%

Page 10 of 28



STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item: 6.a 

Date: June 8, 2018 

To: YECA Governing Board 

Thru: Dena Humphrey, Executive Director 

From: Charles Keasler, IT Specialist II 

Subject: Radio Projects Update 

Recommendation: No action required; information only. 

YECA is involved in two radio projects. A simulcast project to provide a backup radio channel 
in case the Green Fire radio channel fails and a second project to increase radio coverage in the 
northern Rumsey Canyon area of Yolo County.  

Gray Fire Simulcast – Expanded Radio Coverage:  
Gray Fire is primarily used for tactical operations for County Fire and keeps the primary fire 
channel Green Fire clear of non-dispatch traffic. Historically, Gray Fire only transmitted from a 
single location, which provided little to no communication by field units.  During a grant 
process, YECA submitted a proposal to simulcast the channel over the other six radio locations 
throughout the county for maximum radio coverage.  

The grant proposal was approved and the cost of the project was funded through the grant for 
$18k.  The project costs covered FCC licensing, coordination, and the seven radio sites 
configurations through Delta Wireless. The Gray Fire simulcast project was successfully 
completed on April 10, 2018. 

Today, YECA has a backup radio channel to Green Fire, in the event of a radio failure for the 
continuation of operations. It's also serving the purpose as the primary tactical channel for all 
fire agencies, which reduces Green Fire of non-dispatch radio traffic.   

Rumsey Canyon – Expanded Radio Coverage:  
The Rumsey Canyon along Hwy 16 and neighboring hillsides have been a communication 
problem for both County Fire and the Sheriff’s Department for many years. This area includes 
county recreational areas, hiking trails, and Cache Creek access. YECA’s current radio sites are 
unable to penetrate the canyon terrain. YECA reached out to Delta Wireless and Yolo County 
Telecomm to research the various ways of solving the radio coverage issue in this area. 

Improvement of the current communications would immediately benefit the following 
Departments:  Yocha Dehe Fire, Capay Valley Fire, Esparto Fire, Williams Fire, Yolo County 
Sheriff, Colusa County Sheriff, Yolo County Parks, and the Planning & Public Works 
Department.  

Page 11 of 28



The main obstacle to solving the communication issue was providing power to an additional 
radio site. Advances in solar technology and lower pricing has allowed a solution to be 
financially attainable for YECA. The solar site would link the 911-dispatch center to the units 
responding to emergencies within this area. Dispatch would be able to communicate directly with 
the field units and support them during events.  

YECA staff reached out to Yolo County Planning & Public Works and General Services for 
tentative approval of the project, as the proposed location is on Yolo County property.  The 
solution will have minimal environmental impact, including a small site foot print, and will be 
aesthetically hidden from public view.  This site would be self-sustaining with solar power and 
would provide the much-needed communications in the valley.  The proposed radio site would 
still need to be presented to the Yolo County Board of Supervisors for final approval.  

For funding, YECA submitted this solution to the Yocha Dehe Fire Chief for review by the 
Yocha Dehe Wintun Nation Tribal Council for possible funding. The total cost for this project is 
approximately $165,000.  At this time, YECA is awaiting the Tribal Council’s decision for 
funding.  If approved, the estimated time to complete this project is 6-months.   

Page 12 of 28



STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item: 7.a 

Date:  May 2, 2018 

To:  YECA Governing Board 

Thru:  Dena Humphrey, Executive Director 

From:  Leah Goodwin, Operations Manager 

Subject: Board Summary: Text to 9-1-1 Project 

Recommendation: No action required; information only. 

Summary: Text to 9-1-1 Implementation Project in Yolo County 

Background: 

Text to 9-1-1 is the ability to send a text message to reach 9-1-1 emergency call takers from a mobile 
phone or device. This service is an invaluable service for the deaf, hard of hearing, or speech impaired, 
and in situations where it is too dangerous to make a voice call to 9-1-1. The Federal Communications 
Commission (FCC), National Emergency Number Association (NENA), the Association of Public-Safety 
Officials (APCO), and the Nation’s four largest wireless service providers (AT&T, Sprint, T-Mobile, and 
Verizon) came to an agreement to provide Text to 9-1-1 as a nationwide interim solution until the Next 
Generation of 9-1-1 is deployed.  

In California, 31% of the approximately 440 are fully deployed and another 22% (Including Yolo’s 3 
PSAPS: YECA, Davis, and UCD), are in process of deploying in 2018.  

Funding: 

Cal OES provides direct funding for the web based Text to 9-1-1 technology at no cost to the participating 
PSAPs. Staff costs and training costs are the responsibility of the individual PSAP.  

Impact: 

The current statistics show that less than 1% of all 9-1-1 calls received in deployed PSAPs are Text to 9-
1-1. Staffing levels will not be impacted.  This is based on 2 years of historical data. 

“Call if you can – text if you can’t” is the slogan developed by the FCC and adopted by the deployed 
PSAPs as this new service is provided to the communities we serve. “This technology can save lives and 
meet the needs of a growing population that relies on text message as a key form of communication,” said 
Mark Ghilarducci, Director of the California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services. 

Providing this critical service to the public of Yolo County will enhance our ability to respond to 
emergency situations.   

Page 13 of 28



Timeline: 

Task Status 
Completion 

Date Target Date 
Text to 9-1-1 Project Agreement with Yolo PSAPs complete 5/25/2017 5/25/2017 
Vendor demos complete 8/16/2017 8/16/2017 
Intent notice to CA 9-1-1 Office complete 11/14/2017 11/14/2017 
Vendor selection complete 2/12/2018 2/12/2018 
CA 9-1-1 Office order approved complete 2/21/2018 2/21/2018 

IP addresses identified and provided to vendor 

YECA & 
Davis 
complete, 
UCD  
pending 4/19/2018 4/19/2018 

Boundary/Polygon review 
in 
progress 8/31/2018 

Procedure development 
in 
progress 8/18/2018 

PSAP Register FCC Text to 9-1-1 Registry pending 8/31/2018 
Public Notification plan pending 10/1/2018 
Train the Trainer sessions pending 8/20/2018 

Staff training pending 
9/1-

10/1/2018 
Testing wireless service providers pending 9/3/2018 
Notify CA 9-1-1 PSAP registry/testing complete pending 9/20/2018 
Soft launch pending 10/1/2018 
Public Notification   pending 12/1/2018 
Hard launch pending 12/1/2018 

Page 14 of 28



STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item:  8.a 

Date: June 6, 2018  

To: YECA Governing Board 

From:  Dena Humphrey, Executive Director   

Subject: New MOU with Yolo County Dispatchers’ Association  

Recommendation:  Approve three-year Memorandum of Understanding with Yolo County Dispatchers’ 
Association (YCDA) 

Summary: 

YECA has reached a three-year tentative agreement with YCDA for the period of July 1, 2018 – June 30, 
2021, pending the approval of the JPA Board. A summary of benefits and compensation to the previous 
MOU are as follows: 

COLA Increases 
Employees will receive the following COLA increases in the first full pay period of each proceeding 
January: 

o January 2019

Position Step 
COLA 

Increase 
Dispatch Asst. 1-3 0% 
Dispatch Asst. 4 1.48% 
Dispatch Asst. 5 6.51% 
Dispatcher I 1-5 0% 
Dispatcher II 6 2.6% 
Dispatcher II 7 3.3% 
Dispatcher II 8 3.7% 
Dispatcher II 9 5.0% 
Dispatcher II 10 6.3% 
Dispatcher III 1 8.4% 
Dispatcher III 2 7.3% 
Dispatcher III 3 6.3% 

Page 15 of 28



o January 2020
 Dispatcher I/II/III All Steps = 2.0%

o January 2021
 Dispatcher I/II/III All Steps = 2.0%

Bilingual Pay – Change  
Bilingual pay was increased from $60 to $115, per month.  To qualify for this pay, an employee must 
pass a bilingual test in Spanish or Russian. 

Overtime Pay – Change 
Hours worked for the purposes of computing overtime include all hours worked, on vacation, or on 
floating holidays, within the agency designated FLSA workweek.  All other paid leaves will not be 
counted for the purposes of computing overtime.     

Holiday Paid Monthly & Floating Holidays – Change 
Employees may choose to be paid 96hrs in cash over a 12-month period and receive 16hrs Floating 
Holiday or be paid 80hrs in cash over a 12-month period and receive 32hrs of Floating Holiday. 

Work Out of Class Pay – Change  
An employee designated to act in a capacity of a higher position than their regular classification without a 
Supervisor or Dispatcher III onsite shall receive a five percent (5%) base wage rate premium for each 
hour worked.  

Longevity Pay – No Change  
Employees will receive the same longevity pay per years of service: 

o 20 Years - $215/ per month
o 15 Years - $165/ per month
o 10 Years - $115/ per month

Compensation Time Off (CTO) – No Change:  
Changes to CTO accruals changed from a fluctuating model within a maximum balance of 80hrs to a 
one-time fixed amount accrual per fiscal year: 

o 60hr one-time CTO accrual, maximum balance 120hrs

Health Benefits – No Change     
The agency medical package is offered with an amount equal to 90% of the CalPERS Sacramento 
regional Kaiser HMO rate for an employee’s health package.  The health benefits package includes 
medical, health, and vision.  The employee only package includes the 90% Kaiser rate or $850, 
whichever is higher.  The employee +1 and family is based on the 90% Kaiser rate.  For those employees 
who have opted out for medical the cash outs have been set at $500, per month.  

Page 16 of 28



STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item:  8.c 

Date: June 6, 2018  

To: YECA Governing Board 

From:  Dena Humphrey, Executive Director   

Subject: Non-Represented Compensation & Benefits Packages 

Recommendation:  Approve compensation and benefits package for the non-represented groups 

Summary:   

YECA has met with each of the non-represented groups to review compensation and benefits.  
Traditionally, the non-represented groups have typically followed the represented for compensation 
adjustments and benefit enhancements with a few exceptions and considerations.  The non-represented 
groups include the General, Supervisory, and Managers group that includes Executive Director.  Upon 
approval of the JPA Board, these packages would go into effect July 1st.  A summary of benefits and 
compensation is as follows:   

COLA Increases 

The non-represented General, Supervisory, & Managers group will receive COLA increases in the first 
full pay period in January of each of the following years: 

o January 2019 – 2.0%
o January 2020 – 2.0%
o January 2021 – 2.0%

The Executive Director will receive COLA increases in the first full pay period in January of each of the 
following years: 

o January 2019 – 1.0%
o January 2020 – 1.0%
o January 2021 – 1.0%

Accumulative Time Off (ATO) – Change  
ATO is offered when a Holiday occurs on a regular day off at a rate of 8hrs.  An employee in the 
Supervisory group may bank the 8hrs as ATO or receive cash for 8hrs.    

o Non-Represented “Supervisory
A maximum amount of hours was established to cap ATO banks of leave from an unlimited
amount to a fixed amount of 80hrs at any one time:

 80hr maximum balance

Page 17 of 28



Longevity Pay – No Change  
Employees will receive the same longevity pay per years of service: 

o 20 Years - $215/ per month
o 15 Years - $165/ per month
o 10 Years - $115/ per month

Health Benefits – No change     
The agency health package is offered at the amount equal to 90% of the CalPERS Sacramento regional 
Kaiser HMO rate for an employee’s health package.  The health benefits package includes medical, 
health, and vision.   

o Non-Represented “General” – Opted Out for Medical
For those “General” group employees who have opted out for medical benefits the cash outs
have been set to reduce to $500 over a five-year period.  Employees hired after Jan 2016 will
receive the $500 and will not be eligible to the reduction plan.  The current amount is $607
for the “General” group and will follow a $56 per year reduction until $500 is reached:

 Jan 2018 - $607
 Jan 2019 - $551
 Jan 2020 - $500

o Non-Represented Supervisory & Management – No Change
The Supervisory and Management group will receive $975 for employee only.  Employees
who elect employee + 1 or employee plus family will receive an equivalent to 90% Kaiser
Sacramento regional rate plus $100.

Compensation Time Off (CTO) – No Change: 

o Non-Represented “General” – No Change
CTO accruals continue as a one-time fixed amount accrual per fiscal year:
 60hr one-time CTO accrual, maximum balance 120hrs

o Non-Represented “Supervisory” – No Change
CTO accruals continue as a one-time fixed amount accrual per fiscal year:
 80hr one-time CTO accrual, maximum balance 120hrs

Page 18 of 28



STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item:  8.d 

Date: June 6, 2018  

To: YECA Governing Board 

From:  Dena Humphrey, Executive Director   

Subject: New Agency Pay Schedules for FY19 – FY21 

Effective July 1, 2018 
Salary Range 

Position Time Base Minimum Maximum 
Dispatch Assistant Hourly $20.29 $23.04 
Dispatcher I/II Hourly $21.52 $30.09 
Dispatcher III Hourly $31.00 $32.90 
Dispatch Supervisor Hourly $33.32 $40.92 
Operations Manager Hourly $47.19 $57.94 
IT Specialist  Hourly $29.88 $36.32 
System Administrator Hourly $38.14 $46.35 
IT Manager Hourly $47.74 $56.39 
Executive Director Hourly $62.83 $76.21 
Sr. Administrative Specialist II Hourly $20.03 $24.55 
Fiscal/Human Resources Administrator Hourly $36.78 $42.60 

Effective January 1, 2019 
Salary Range 

Position Time Base Minimum Maximum 
Dispatch Assistant Hourly $20.29 $24.54 
Dispatcher I/II Hourly $21.52 $32.00 
Dispatcher III Hourly $33.60 $34.96 
Dispatch Supervisor Hourly $33.99 $41.74 
Operations Manager Hourly $48.13 $59.10 
IT Specialist  Hourly $30.48 $37.05 
System Administrator Hourly $38.90 $47.28 
IT Manager Hourly $48.69 $57.52 
Executive Director Hourly $63.46 $76.97 
Sr. Administrative Specialist II Hourly $20.43 $25.04 
Fiscal/Human Resources Administrator Hourly $37.52 $43.45 

Page 19 of 28



Effective January 1, 2020 
Salary Range 

Position Time Base Minimum Maximum 
Dispatch Assistant Hourly $20.70 $25.03 
Dispatcher I/II Hourly $21.95 $32.64 
Dispatcher III Hourly $34.27 $35.66 
Dispatch Supervisor Hourly $34.67 $42.57 
Operations Manager Hourly $49.09 $60.28 
IT Specialist  Hourly $31.09 $37.79 
System Administrator Hourly $39.68 $48.23 
IT Manager Hourly $49.66 $58.67 
Executive Director Hourly $64.09 $77.74 
Sr. Administrative Specialist II Hourly $20.84 $25.54 
Fiscal/Human Resources Administrator Hourly $38.27 $44.32 

Effective January 1, 2021 
Salary Range 

Position Time Base Minimum Maximum 
Dispatch Assistant Hourly $21.11 $25.53 
Dispatcher I/II Hourly $22.39 $33.29 
Dispatcher III Hourly $34.96 $36.37 
Dispatch Supervisor Hourly $35.36 $43.42 
Operations Manager Hourly $50.07 $61.49 
IT Specialist  Hourly $31.71 $38.55 
System Administrator Hourly $40.47 $49.19 
IT Manager Hourly $50.65 $59.84 
Executive Director Hourly $64.73 $78.52 
Sr. Administrative Specialist II Hourly $21.26 $26.05 
Fiscal/Human Resources Administrator Hourly $39.04 $45.21 

Page 20 of 28



Agenda Item 8.e

General General Supervisory Management
Unit Designation JG G Sup M
Representation YCDA None None None
Overtime/CT Yes Yes/*No Yes No

Monthly Benefit Package:
    Includes: Medical, Dental, Vision  
Health - ee $850 $850 $975 $975
Health - ee + 1 $1,267 $1,267 $1,367 $1,367
Health - family $1,647 $1,647 $1,747 $1,747
In-lieu of Health Ins. $500 $500 $875 $875
Medical Packages Based off 90% Kaiser Sacramento Regional Rate

Life Insurance Annual Salary Annual Salary Annual Salary Annual Salary 

CalPERS Classic 2% @55 2% @55 2% @55 2% @55
CalPERS PEPRA 2% @62 2% @62 2% @62 2% @62
Misc. Member Contribution -               
Classic EE Pays 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0%
Misc. Member Contribution -
PEPRA EE Pays 6.25% 6.25% 6.25% 6.25%
Social Security No No No No
Monthly Longevity Service Pay: 

10 Years $115 $115 $115 $115 
15 Years $165 $165 $165 $165 
20 Years $215 $215 $215 $215 

Monthly Medical After Retirement $252 $252 $252 $700

Paid Holidays Cash: 12-days or 10-days 10-days Cash or Time 10-days  10-days
Alternative Time Off (ATO) Leave Bank: 0 0 80hrs max 0
Floating Holidays 16hrs or 32hrs 32hrs 32hrs 32hrs
Annual Sick Leave Accrual 96hrs 96hrs 96hrs 96hrs
Annual Admin Leave N/A **0-40hrs N/A 80hrs
Comp Time One-Time Accurals: 60hrs 60hrs 80hrs N/A
COLA Increases: 

Jan 2019 2.6%-6.3% 2.00% 2.00% 1%-2%
Jan 2020 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 1%-2%
Jan 2021 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 1%-2%

Sick Leave Incentive $400-$500 $400-$500 $400-$500 N/A

Vacation Buy Back 40hrs 40hrs 40hrs 80hrs

2018 YECA Benefits Summary 

*Indicates a member of this unit is exempted from FLSA
 **Indicates a member in this unit receives 40hours Admin Leave 

Page 21 of 28



STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item:  9.a 

Date:  June 6, 2018 

To:  YECA Governing Board 

From:    Dena Humphrey, Executive Director 

Subject: Proposed Budget for FY18/19  

Summary: 

This year’s proposed budget for FY18/19 captures the operational costs for current staffing of 45 FTE’s 
along with an additional FTE Dispatch Assistant position for the handling of After-Hours Records and 
Call Taking.  If approved this would bring the agency total to 46 FTE’s for FY19.  The proposed budget 
is inclusive of all bargaining costs for the represented and non-represented.   

Agency Overall:   
The total budget for FY18/19 is $6,572,174 with an allocation to partners of $5,683,920 for operations 
and maintenance, and is inclusive of capital allocations of $368k.  The use of surplus funds $350k, and 
new revenue from the UCD Fire contract $70k, reduced a portion of the allocation to partners.  However, 
the overall allocation increased from previous year’s allocations by $314k, or 5.9% for operations and 
maintenance.  The increase stems from using a lower fund balance of $350k for FY18/19, which is 
$250k less than previous year’s allocation of $600k, along with the net increase of $138k in salaries.         

FY18/19 will be year 2 of the 10-year capital plan.  In prior years, capital costs were presented separately 
and typically funded with bond money or fund balance.  The CIP now includes a 10-year forecast, which 
evenly allocates money yearly into the capital fund to ease spikes to members and ensures future funding 
for needed equipment.   

Personnel Costs:  
Salaries for 46 FTE’s increased by $238k or 5%, with an offset from supplies of $100k, bringing the net 
increase to $138k or 3%.  The cost increase is inclusive of bargaining and reflects overall increases from 
i.e., CalPERS, Merits, COLA’s, Medical, and the additional Dispatch Assistant position of $65k.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
8.921% 9.409% 10.80% 10.80% 10.80% 10.80%

$241,303 $300,355 $357,993 $371,491 $375,206 $378,959
$130,767 $175,091 $226,000 $268,000 $319,000 $364,000

$372,070 $475,446 $583,993 $639,491 $694,206 $742,959

CalPERS 
Employer Normal Cost%:

Employer Normal Cost
UAL$
Total CalPERS Cost 

Projected Future Employer Contribution Rates 

Fund Summary: 
The General Reserve balance established Nov 2015 for emergency needs has a current balance $760k, 
representing a 13% operating budget (goal set by the JPA Board 20%).  The Capital/Special Projects 
Reserve has a balance of $59k.  The proposed budget would include an allocation of $241k, to the fund, 
leaving the FY18/19 end balance $300k.   

Page 22 of 28



Last year’s budget comparison to the proposed FY18/19 budget: 

Last Year Proposed 

Major Objects FY17/18 FY18/19 Change Percent 

Total Salaries & Benefits  $      4,467,983  $   4,705,997  $   238,014 5.3% 

Total Service & Supplies  $      1,166,725  $   1,066,190  $ (100,535) -8.6%

Total Other Charges  $        394,599  $      384,987  $     (9,612) -2.4%

Capital Equipment & Contingency  $        439,000  $      415,000  $   (24,000) -5.5%

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS  $     6,468,307  $   6,572,174  $   103,867 1.6% 

Total Member Contribution  $      5,369,066  $   5,683,920  $   314,854 5.9% 

Total Capital Lease Payments  $        389,599  $      384,987  $     (4,612) -1.2%

Total Other   $        709,642  $      503,267  $ (206,375) -29.1%

TOTAL REVENUE  $   6,468,307  $   6,572,174  $  103,867 1.6% 

The agency allocations shown on the table below reflects O&M, capital, along with the scheduled debt 

service payment (to be paid fully Nov 2025):  

Agency Totals  Last Year’s Allocations Proposed Change 

FY 17-18 FY 18-19 Increase/ (Decrease) 

Winters - O&M/Capital $247,648 $259,863 $12,215
Winters - Debt Service $21,968 $21,943 ($25)

Total $269,616 $281,806 $12,190 

Woodland - O&M/ Capital $1,826,154 $1,965,890 $139,736
Woodland - Debt Service $96,945 $96,837 ($108)

Total $1,923,099 $2,062,727 $139,628 

West Sac - O&M/Capital $1,917,428 $1,958,476 $41,049

West Sac - Debt Service $55,399 $55,337 ($62)

Total $1,972,827 $2,013,813 $40,987 

Yolo County - O&M/Capital $1,324,146 $1,438,315 $114,169
Yolo County - Debt Service $143,690 $143,530 ($160)

Total $1,467,836 $1,581,845 $114,009 

Yocha Dehe - O&M/Capital $53,691 $61,375 $7,684
Yocha Dehe - Debt Service $8,608 $8,599 ($9)

Total $62,299 $69,974 $7,675 

Page 23 of 28



STAFF REPORT 

Agenda Item:  9.b 

Date:  June 6, 2018 

To:  YECA Governing Board 

From:   Dena Humphrey, Executive Director   

Subject:          FY18/19 Proposed Capital Investment Plan (CIP) 

Summary: 

The proposed CIP costs for FY19 is a continuation of the 10-year plan.  The initial draft to the 
Board for the 10-year CIP was approved last year.  The plan identifies when the asset is needed 
along with potential funding streams from grants or State reimbursements.  Last fiscal year the 
Board approved CIP items in the budgeted amount $380k.    

The Board approved the following allocations each year for an annual contribution of $368k. This 
allows member agencies to receive a stable allocation for capital costs and provides YECA 
necessary funds for fluent operations. The total cost over the next 10 years is estimated at $3.7M 
comprising of multiple equipment replacements, primarily focusing on the replacement of the 
microwave system and radios in years FY24 and FY26.  The current Capital/Special Projects 
Reserve has a balance of $59k.  The year-end balance is projected to be $300k, after the FY19 
annual contribution.     

Board approved annual ratio per member: 

Members Fixed Ratio Debt Ratio 
Winters 5.25% 6.70% 
Woodland 31.25% 29.70% 
W. Sacramento 31.25% 17.00% 
Yolo County 31.25% 44.00% 
Yocha Dehe 1.00% 2.60% 

Board approved annual ongoing capital allocations are shown below: 

Members Annual Allocations 
Winters $22,797 
Woodland $110,817 
W. Sacramento $74,812 
Yolo County $151,358 
Yocha Dehe $8,216 
 Total $368,000 

Page 24 of 28



FY17/18 CIP Items - Completed:  
Last year the Board approved the Radio/Microwave project for $380k.  The project replaced 
equipment at each of the 7-radio sites over a 6-month period.  Partial funding of $71k, was 
approved through the HSG grant, leaving a remaining balance of $309k, paid by the member 
agencies.  The project was successfully completed February 2018 and remained within budget.  

FY18/19 Proposed CIP Items: 

R720 Servers (2): 
The R720 servers are physical servers that support the virtual server infrastructure that are end-of-
life servers for the network (CAD, Email, file storage, CLETS, etc.) that are in need of replacement 
due to age. 

Offsite SAN (Disaster Recovery): 
The offsite SAN is a storage array (1 of 2) that stores YECA’s backup jobs offsite to preserve data 
in the event of a catastrophic failure at YECA (fire, flood, power spike that destroys the boxes, etc.) 
that has reached end of life.     

Batteries Radio Plant:   
Each radio site has a secondary source of power to operate the radios in the event of a power 
failure.  This is the beginning phase to replace the aged batteries at each of the sites that were 
originally installed for the new radio system.  The HSG grant of $47k, was approved for the 
purchase of the batteries for this project.        

Summary of costs for the proposed FY18/19 CIP Items: 

Project Cost Status 

R720 Servers   $    35,000 Slated for FY19 

Offsite SAN (Disaster Rec)  $    92,000 Slated for FY19 

Batteries Radio Plant   $    47,000 Slated for FY19 

TOTAL  $     174,000 

Page 25 of 28



Project 

Funding 

Type Funding Sources 

Replacement 

Cost (est.) FY17-18 FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22

Furniture

Dispatch Consoles F Member Agencies $85,000 $85,000

Server Room

R720 Servers (2) F Member Agencies $35,000 $35,000

Offsite SAN (Disaster Recovery) F Member Agencies $92,000 $92,000

UPS F Member Agencies $90,000 $90,000

Core Switches (6) F Member Agencies $66,000 $66,000

Internet Firewalls F Member Agencies $16,000 $16,000

Interagency Firewalls F Member Agencies $7,000 $7,000

911 Voice Logger (Server only)  I F State $52,000 $52,000

911 Voice Logger (Server only)  II F Member Agencies $55,000 $55,000

SAN F Member Agencies $92,000

R730 Servers (2) F Member Agencies $36,000

Radio/911 Equipment Room

Radio/Microwave Multiplexor D Member/HSG $380,000 $380,000

Batteries for Radio Power Plant D HSG $27,000 $27,000

Dispatch 911 Phones (CPE) D State $370,000 $370,000

TSM 8000 Server - Microwave D Member Agencies $17,000 $17,000

Zetron Toning System D Member Agencies $12,000 $12,000

Radios D Member Agencies $235,000

Microwave Radios D Member Agencies $135,000

Channel Banks D Member Agencies $135,000

GPS Clocks D Member Agencies $20,000

Comparators D Member Agencies $205,000

Radio Sites

Batteries for Radio Power Plant D HSG $80,000 $47,000 $33,000

Generator for Bald D HSG $75,000 $75,000

Radios D Member Agencies $590,000

Microwave Radios D Member Agencies $550,000

Channel Banks D Member Agencies $100,000

GPS Clocks D Member Agencies $128,590

Building 

Totals $4,777,000 $380,000 $174,000 $216,000 $634,000 $55,000

Total per Funding Source Grants $253,000 $71,000 $47,000 $60,000 $75,000

State $844,000 $422,000

Member Agencies $3,680,000 $309,000 $127,000 $156,000 $137,000 $55,000

Annual Sinking Fund $368,000 $368,000 $368,000 $368,000 $368,000 $368,000

Annual Balance $59,000 $241,000 $212,000 $231,000 $313,000

Running Balance $59,000 $300,000 $512,000 $743,000 $1,056,000

Agenda Item: 9.b - CIP Years 1-5

Page 26 of 28



Project 

Funding 

Type Funding Sources 

Replacement Cost 

(est.) FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 24-25 FY 25-26 FY 26-27

Furniture

Dispatch Consoles F Member Agencies $85,000

Server Room

R720 Servers (2) F Member Agencies $35,000 $35,000

Offsite SAN (Disaster Recovery) F Member Agencies $92,000 $92,000

UPS F Member Agencies $90,000

Core Switches (6) F Member Agencies $66,000 $66,000

Internet Firewalls F Member Agencies $16,000 $16,000

Interagency Firewalls F Member Agencies $7,000 $7,000

911 Voice Logger (Server only)  I F State $52,000 $52,000

911 Voice Logger (Server only)  II F Member Agencies $55,000 $55,000

SAN F Member Agencies $92,000 $92,000

R730 Servers (2) F Member Agencies $36,000 $36,000

Radio/911 Equipment Room

Radio/Microwave Multiplexor D Member/HSG $380,000 $380,000

Batteries for Radio Power Plant D HSG $27,000

Dispatch 911 Phones (CPE) D State $370,000 $370,000

TSM 8000 Server - Microwave D Member Agencies $17,000 $17,000

Zetron Toning System D Member Agencies $12,000

Radios D Member Agencies $235,000 $235,000

Microwave Radios D Member Agencies $135,000 $135,000

Channel Banks D Member Agencies $135,000 $135,000

GPS Clocks D Member Agencies $20,000 $20,000

Comparators D Member Agencies $205,000 $205,000

Radio Sites

Batteries for Radio Power Plant D HSG $80,000

Generator for Bald D HSG $75,000

Radios D Member Agencies $590,000 $590,000

Microwave Radios D Member Agencies $550,000 $550,000

Channel Banks D Member Agencies $100,000 $100,000

GPS Clocks D Member Agencies $128,590 $130,000

Building 

Totals $4,777,000 $128,000 $127,000 $825,000 $528,000 $1,710,000

Total per Funding Source Grants $253,000

State $844,000 $422,000

Member Agencies $3,680,000 $128,000 $127,000 $825,000 $106,000 $1,710,000

Annual Sinking Fund $368,000 $368,000 $368,000 $368,000 $368,000 $368,000

Annual Balance $240,000 $241,000 -$457,000 $262,000 -$1,342,000

Running Balance $1,296,000 $1,537,000 $1,080,000 $1,342,000 $0

Agenda Item: 9.b - CIP Years 6-10

Page 27 of 28



Agenda Item: 9.c 
Proposed Position Table 

Authorized Position Resolution    as of 
05/31/18 

Current Proposed 

Active Positions  Effective  
FTE 

Auth  

FTE 
Funded 
& Filled 

FTE 
Funded 

& Vacant 

Current 
FTE Auth 
& Funded 

Proposed 
FTE 

Additions 

FTE 
Auth  & 
Funded 

1 Executive Director 2015 1 1 1 1 
2 HR/Fiscal Administrator 2016 1 1 1 1 
3 Sr. Administrative Specialist II 2008 1 1 1 1 
4 Operations Manager 2008 1 1 1 1 
5 Dispatch Supervisor 1999 4 4 4 4 
6 911/Public Safety Dispatcher I/II 2015 26 24 2 26 26 
7 911/Public Safety Dispatcher III 2006 4 4 4 4 
8 Dispatch Assistant 2014 4 4 4  1 5 
9 IT Systems Manager 2012 1 1 1 1 

10 Sr. Radio Administrator 2013 0 0 0 0 
11 Radio Systems Administrator 2008 0 0 0 0 
12 Systems Administrator 2018 1 1 1 1 
13 Information Technology Specialist 2018 1 1 1 1 

Totals 45 43 2 45 1 46 

Page 28 of 28


	AGENDA
	REGULAR MEETING
	YECA GOVERNING BOARD
	Yolo Emergency Communications Agency, 35 N. Cottonwood Street, Woodland, CA 95695
	June 6, 2018
	2:00 P.M. Public Session




 


 


 


 


MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


between 


 


YOLO EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY 


 


 


 


and 


 


YOLO COUNTY DISPATCHERS’ ASSOCIATION 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2021 







 


 i 


 


Table of Contents 


 


 
ARTICLE 1. RECOGNITION ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 


1.1 Recognition ................................................................................................................................................................ 1 


1.2 Regular Part-Time Employee ..................................................................................................................................... 1 


1.3 Extra Help Employees ................................................................................................................................................ 1 


ARTICLE 2. EMPLOYEE AND ASSOCIATION RIGHTS ........................................................................................................... 1 


2.1 Association Dues ....................................................................................................................................................... 1 


2.2 Employee Rights ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 


2.3 Association Rights ...................................................................................................................................................... 2 


2.4 Release Time ............................................................................................................................................................. 3 


ARTICLE 3. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS .......................................................................................................................................... 4 


ARTICLE 4. BASE WAGE RATE AND RANGE IMPLEMENTATION ....................................................................................... 4 


4.1 New Employees ......................................................................................................................................................... 4 


4.2 Upon Promotion. ........................................................................................................................................................ 4 


4.3 Upon Demotion .......................................................................................................................................................... 5 


4.4 Work Out of Class Pay ............................................................................................................................................... 5 


ARTICLE 5. HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME ..................................................................................................................... 5 


5.1 Definition .................................................................................................................................................................... 5 


5.2 Overtime ..................................................................................................................................................................... 5 


5.3 Compensatory Time ................................................................................................................................................... 7 


5.4 Posting/Notice of Schedule ........................................................................................................................................ 8 


5.5 Meal Periods .............................................................................................................................................................. 8 


ARTICLE 6. PROBATION PERIOD ............................................................................................................................................... 8 


6.1 New Employees ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 


6.1.1 Dispatcher Assistants ................................................................................................................................................. 8 


6.2 Upon Voluntary Demotion .......................................................................................................................................... 9 


6.3 Former Employees ..................................................................................................................................................... 9 


6.4 Dismissal .................................................................................................................................................................... 9 


6.5 Extension of Probation ............................................................................................................................................... 9 


ARTICLE 7. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION .............................................................................................................................. 9 


7.1 Probationary Employees ............................................................................................................................................ 9 


7.2 Regular Employees .................................................................................................................................................. 10 


ARTICLE 8. HOLIDAYS ................................................................................................................................................................. 10 


8.1 Holiday Pay .............................................................................................................................................................. 10 


8.2 Floating Holiday ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 


8.3 Holiday Pay for Regular Part-Time Employees ....................................................................................................... 10 







 


 ii 


8.4 Pay for Holidays Worked .......................................................................................................................................... 10 


ARTICLE 9. VACATION ................................................................................................................................................................ 11 


9.1 Eligibility ................................................................................................................................................................... 11 


9.2 Accruals.................................................................................................................................................................... 11 


9.3 Vacation Accrual for Regular Part-Time Employees ............................................................................................... 11 


9.4 Maximum Accruals ................................................................................................................................................... 11 


9.5 Vacation Bidding ...................................................................................................................................................... 12 


9.6 Absence ................................................................................................................................................................... 13 


9.7 Illness While On Vacation ........................................................................................................................................ 13 


9.8 Vacation Cash Out ................................................................................................................................................... 13 


ARTICLE 10. SICK LEAVE.............................................................................................................................................................. 14 


10.1 Accrual ..................................................................................................................................................................... 14 


10.2 Sick Leave Usage .................................................................................................................................................... 14 


10.3 Sick Leave Usage While On Leave ......................................................................................................................... 14 


10.4 Sick Leave Payoff .................................................................................................................................................... 15 


10.5 Sick Leave Incentive Pay ......................................................................................................................................... 15 


ARTICLE 11. LEAVES ..................................................................................................................................................................... 16 


11.1 On the Job Injury/Illness ........................................................................................................................................... 16 


11.2 Military Leave ........................................................................................................................................................... 16 


11.3 Jury Duty .................................................................................................................................................................. 17 


11.4 Leave of Absence Without Pay ................................................................................................................................ 17 


11.5 Bereavement Leave ................................................................................................................................................. 17 


11.6 Revocation of Leave ................................................................................................................................................ 17 


11.7  Family and Medical Leave Act ................................................................................................................................. 18 


ARTICLE 12. WAGES AND PAY PROVISIONS .......................................................................................................................... 18 


12.1 Salaries are listed in Appendix A. ............................................................................................................................ 18 


12.2 Call Back Pay ........................................................................................................................................................... 20 


12.3 Shift Differential and Rotation .................................................................................................................................. 20 


12.4 Bilingual Pay ............................................................................................................................................................ 21 


12.5 Training Pay ............................................................................................................................................................. 21 


12.6 Standby Duty (On-Call) ............................................................................................................................................ 21 


12.7 Longevity Pay ........................................................................................................................................................... 21 


12.8  Court Overtime ......................................................................................................................................................... 22 


ARTICLE 13. HEALTH, WELFARE AND RETIREMENT ........................................................................................................... 22 


13.1 Health Benefits ......................................................................................................................................................... 22 


13.2 Dental Benefits ......................................................................................................................................................... 23 


13.3 Vision Plan ............................................................................................................................................................... 23 


13.4 Short/Long Term Disability Insurance ...................................................................................................................... 23 







 


 iii 


13.5 Life Insurance ........................................................................................................................................................... 23 


13.6 Changes in Insurance .............................................................................................................................................. 23 


13.7 IRS 125 Plan ............................................................................................................................................................ 23 


13.8 Retirement ................................................................................................................................................................ 23 


13.8.1 PERS Plan for “Classic” PERS Members ....................................................................................................... 24 


13.8.3  Medical .................................................................................................................................................................. 24 


ARTICLE 14. DISCIPLINE ............................................................................................................................................................... 24 


14.1 Disciplinary Action Defined ...................................................................................................................................... 24 


14.2 Cause for Discipline ................................................................................................................................................. 24 


14.3 Notice of Discipline ................................................................................................................................................... 25 


14.4 Appeal of Discipline .................................................................................................................................................. 25 


ARTICLE 15. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ................................................................................................................................... 26 


15.1 Purpose .................................................................................................................................................................... 26 


15.2 Definition .................................................................................................................................................................. 26 


15.3 General Terms ......................................................................................................................................................... 26 


15.4 Time Limits ............................................................................................................................................................... 27 


15.5 Access to Grievance ................................................................................................................................................ 27 


15.6 Procedure ................................................................................................................................................................. 27 


ARTICLE 16. SENIORITY ............................................................................................................................................................... 29 


16.1 Definition Of ............................................................................................................................................................. 29 


ARTICLE 17. LAYOFF ..................................................................................................................................................................... 30 


17.1 Layoffs ...................................................................................................................................................................... 30 


ARTICLE 18. NO STRIKE CLAUSE .............................................................................................................................................. 31 


ARTICLE 19. SEPARABILITY OF PROVISIONS ........................................................................................................................ 31 


ARTICLE 20. JOINT LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE .................................................................................................... 32 


ARTICLE 21. RESIGNATION AND REINSTATEMENT ............................................................................................................. 32 


ARTICLE 22  ENTIRE AGREEMENT……………………………………………………………………………………………32 


ARTICLE 23. TERM ........................................................................................................................................................................ 32 


APPENDIX A - PAY SCALE ............................................................................................................................................................... 34 


APPENDIX B  UNION ORIENTATION (AB 119)…………………………………………………………………………………37 


APPENDIX C  RETIREE HEALTH SAVINGS STUDY…………………………………………………………………………..39 


 


 


 







 


 1 


MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 


Between the 
 


YOLO EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY 
 


And the 
 


YOLO COUNTY DISPATCHERS’ ASSOCIATION 
 


 


This Memorandum of Understanding is entered into this __________ day of ___________, 201 
 , by and between the Yolo Emergency Communications Agency, hereinafter referred to as 
“Agency” or “Employer” and the Yolo County Dispatchers’ Association, hereinafter referred to as 
“Association”.  Its purpose is to promote harmonious relations between the Agency, the Association 
and employees in accordance with Section 3500-3511 of the California Government Code (Meyers 
Milias-Brown Act).  
 


ARTICLE 1. RECOGNITION 
 
1.1 Recognition 


 
The Agency recognizes the Association as the exclusive representative for purposes of 
collective bargaining for all full-time and regular part-time employees in classifications listed in 
Appendix A. 


 
1.2 Regular Part-Time Employee 


 
May be assigned to work twenty (20) to forty (40) hours per week. Regular part-time employees 
are covered by the MOU and receive all leaves on a pro-rata basis and all other benefits as 
specified in the benefit documents. 


 
1.3 Extra Help Employees 


 
May be regularly assigned less than twenty (20) hours per week; on an irregular “on call” basis; 
or to fill in behind a regular full-time or part-time employee on leave.  Extra Help employees are 
not covered by the Memorandum of Understanding.  
 


ARTICLE 2. EMPLOYEE AND ASSOCIATION RIGHTS 
 
2.1 Association Dues 


 
To the extent allowed by law, the Association shall be entitled to have the regular dues, fees and 
assessments of its members deducted from their paycheck in accordance with the procedures 
set forth herein. 
 
Employees shall be entitled to have dues deducted by filling out, signing and filing with the 
Agency an authorization form provided by the Association and approved by the Agency.  The 







 


 2 


deduction shall continue (1) until the employee revokes such authorization, in writing; or (2) until 
the transfer of the employee to a position not represented by the Association. 


 
The employee’s earnings must be regularly sufficient after other legal and required deductions 
are made to cover the amount of the dues check-off authorized.  In the case of an employee 
who is in a non-pay status during only a part of the pay period and the salary is not sufficient to 
cover the full withholding, no deductions will be made.  
 
Dues withheld by the Agency shall be transmitted monthly to the party designated in writing by 
the Association as the party authorized to receive the funds at the address specified. 
 


2.2 Employee Rights 
 


2.2.1 No Discrimination 
 
Employees of the Agency shall have the right to form, join, and participate in the activities 
in employee organizations of their own choosing.  No employee shall be subjected to 
discrimination on the basis of his or her exercise of these rights.  
 


2.2.2 Right to Representation 
 
Any employee who is directed to attend a meeting where one of the issues is the proposed 
discipline of said employee or if the employee has a reasonable expectation that a 
disciplinary action may result, that employee shall be entitled to Association 
representation at such meeting. 
 


2.2.3 Access to Personnel Files 
 
There shall be one official personnel file for each employee.  Upon presentation of written 
authorization from the employee, employee’s representative shall have access to the 
employee’s personnel file upon request.  No written reprimand, performance evaluation, 
or negative notation shall be placed in an employee’s personnel file until that employee 
has had an opportunity to review the document.  Employees may request that additional 
information be included in the official file and shall retain the right to place a written 
rebuttal in the file in response to any negative notation, written reprimand or performance 
evaluation.  
  


2.3 Association Rights 
  
 2.3.1 Access to Work Location 


 
Reasonable access to employee work locations shall be granted to officially designated 
representatives of the Association, for the purpose of contacting members of the 
bargaining unit concerning business within the scope of representation.  Such 
representatives shall not enter any work location without the consent of a supervisor, 
manager or Executive Director. Access shall be restricted so as not to interfere with the 
normal operations of the Agency or with established security requirements.  However, 
such access shall not be unreasonably denied.  







 


 3 


 
The Association shall notify the Agency, in writing, of the names of the Association’s 
officers and designated representatives. 
 


2.3.2 List of Employees 
 
Twice a year the Agency shall furnish the Association with the names, classifications and 
date of hire of employees assigned to classifications in the bargaining unit.  


 
2.3.3 Advance Notice 


 
Except in cases of emergency, the Association shall be given thirty (30) days advance 
written notice of any new or proposed change to any Agency ordinance, resolution, rule 
or regulation directly relating to matters within the scope of representation.  The 
Association shall be given the opportunity to meet and confer with management 
representatives prior to adoption. If the Association believes that new work rules or 
procedures fall within scope of representation and that the Agency has failed to meet and 
confer prior to implementation, the Agency will meet to review the subject matter to 
determine applicability of this provision.   
  


2.3.4 Use of Agency Facilities and Bulletin Boards 
 
The Association shall be allowed reasonable use of agency office equipment for 
Association business.  Upon request, the Association shall be allowed the use of available 
bulletin board space in the emergency service area having to do with official Association 
business, provided that the material is not derogatory to Agency officials and employees.  
All materials must be dated and must identify the organization that published them.  
 
The Association and its representatives will be permitted reasonable use of Agency 
equipment normally used to conduct business, including computers, email, copy and fax 
machines to conduct Association business.   Association use of such equipment must 
comply with Agency policy.  After notice to the Association, the Agency may  terminate 
Association use of Agency equipment for failure to comply with Agency policy. 


 
 2.3.5   Concept:  Address orientation in separate agreement. 


 
2.4 Release Time 


 
2.4.1 Negotiations 


 
One (1) employee shall be released from duty to attend negotiations and a reasonable 
amount of preparation time immediately prior to and following each negotiation session.  
Release from duty must be mutually agreed upon sufficiently in advance in order to secure 
shift coverage.  Two (2) employees shall be released for negotiations if staffing levels are 
at a minimum 75% of budgeted positions.   


 
 
 







 


 4 


2.4.2 Grievance Handling 
 
The Agency will grant reasonable release time to one (1) Association representative per 
shift to investigate and prepare for grievance presentation; however, said representative 
may not leave his/her workstation without permission from his/her supervisor.  Only one 
representative may be released at a time/per grievance. 
  


ARTICLE 3. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 
Except as otherwise limited by a specific term of these policies or of the labor agreement, the Agency 
has and retains the sole and exclusive rights and functions of management, including, but not limited 
to the following: 
 


 To determine the nature and extent of services to be performed, as well as the right to 
determine and implement its public functions and responsibilities. 


 To manage all Agency facilities and operations including the methods, means and 
personnel by which such operations are to be conducted. 


 To schedule working hours and assign work. 


 To establish, modify or change work schedules or standards. 


 To direct the work force, including the right to hire, assign, promote, demote or transfer 
an employee. 


 To determine the location of all work assignments and facilities. 


 To determine the layout and the machinery, equipment or materials to be used. 
 


ARTICLE 4. BASE WAGE RATE AND RANGE IMPLEMENTATION 
 
4.1 New Employees 
 
 New employees will advance through the steps of the applicable base wage range based on 


length of service as historically calculated.  However, the Agency may accelerate the employee’s 
movement through one or more base wage steps based on its assessment of the employee’s 
demonstrated skills and abilities. 


 
4.2 Upon Promotion. 
 
 Employees may be advanced from the classification of Dispatcher Assistant to the classification 


of Dispatcher I, and from the classification of Dispatcher I to the classification of Dispatcher II 
after demonstrating proven competency in established areas as defined in the Performance 
Evaluation Manual.  


 
 Employees will advance through the base wage steps of the applicable base wage range based 


on length of service as historically calculated.  However, the Agency accelerate the employee’s 
movement through one or more  base wage steps based on demonstrated skills and abilities as 
defined in the Performance Evaluation Manual.  


  
 The Agency agrees to complete all forms and paperwork necessary and in a timely manner to 


fully implement advancements through the base wage step system which is based on the agreed 
upon bench mark core competency skills. 







 


 5 


  


4.3 Upon Demotion 
 
 If an employee is demoted as a result of disciplinary action or by voluntary choice, the 


employee’s base wage rate shall be reduced to the next lower step in the range for the class of 
position to which the employee has been demoted.  For the purposes of further step increases 
within the range, the employee shall maintain the same anniversary date.  


4.4 Work Out of Class Pay 
 


An employee designated to act in a capacity in a higher position than his/her regular 
classification without a Supervisor or Dispatcher III on site shall receive a five percent (5%)  base 
wage rate premium.  Such increase shall be paid for each hour of the assignment of one or more 
hours.  .  The length of assignment to act in a higher capacity shall normally not exceed one (1) 
year. 


 
4.4.1 Any employee who is appointed to act in the capacity of a supervisor remains a member 


of the bargaining unit, but he/she shall assume all of the duties and be subject to the 
working conditions of the other supervisors of similar rank for the duration of the 
appointment. 


ARTICLE 5. HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 


5.1 Definition 
 
5.1.1 Workday 
 
 A workday is a specific and regularly scheduled period of time consisting of eight (8), ten 


(10) or twelve (12) consecutive hours daily as determined by a fixed work schedule. 


5.1.2 Work Week/Work Period 
 
 A work week/period is considered forty (40) hours in a consecutive seven (7) day period. 


5.1.3 Fixed Schedules 
 
 Employees working a fixed work schedule shall have specified starting and ending times 


to their work shifts.  These employees shall have a fixed number of consecutive hours 
per shift, though they may not have the same starting and ending times every day.  Hours 
worked in excess of the regularly scheduled daily shift (i.e., eight (8), ten (10), and twelve 
(12) hours) shall be paid in accordance with this Article.  All shifts will consist of 
consecutive workdays and consecutive days off.  


 
5.2 Overtime 


 5.2.1  Definition 
 







 


 6 


 Overtime is that time worked in excess of an employee’s regular daily scheduled workday 


and/ or workweek.  Hours worked for the purposes of computing overtime include all hours 
actually worked, on vacation leave, or on floating holidays, within the Agency designated 
FLSA workweek.  


5.2.2  Pay or Compensation Time 
 
 Overtime shall be earned at the rate of one-and-one half (1½) times the employee’s hourly 


rate for each hour of overtime, and can be taken as pay or compensatory time off at the 
employee’s choice. 


 
5.2.3 Approval Process 
 
 All overtime must be approved in advance by the employee’s supervisor.  Overtime will 


be approved only when work cannot be accomplished by currently assigned personnel 
within normal working hours.  Supervisors, at all levels, are responsible for examining 


workload and staff resources before posting overtime. Supervisors, at all levels, are also 


responsible for avoiding the use of overtime by changing workload priorities when 
practicable and temporarily reassigning available on-duty staff to handle unexpected  
workload peaks. 


 
5.2.4  Changes in Shifts 


 
 Except as provided herein for training, an individual employee’s shift shall not be altered 


or flexed on a day-to-day basis to avoid overtime unless mutually agreed upon by the 
employee and the Agency.  The Agency may alter or flex an employee’s shift within the 
employee’s workweek to meet that employee’s Agency training objectives and avoid or 
reduce associated overtime.  Except in an emergency, the Agency will provide the 
employee not less than seven (7) days advance notice of such deviation from the 
employee’s regular shift schedule.    


 
5.2.5 Split Shifts 
 


Except in cases of extreme emergency, employees ordered to return to work on their 
day off shall only work assignments which are consecutive hours; employees will not be 
required to work split shifts.  Shifts may be split by mutual agreement between the 
employee and the employer. 


 
For purposes of this Section, routine staffing shortages shall not constitute an extreme 
emergency. 


 
5.2.6 Alternative Work Schedule 
 


The parties agree that alternative work schedules may be explored during the term of this 
MOU. Such commitment to review alternate schedules does not commit the Agency to 
schedule shifts that include mandatory payment of overtime or would require a waiver 
from Fair Labor Standards Act provisions.  







 


 7 


 


5.3 Compensatory Time 


5.3.1 Rate 
 
 Compensatory time off shall be earned at a rate of one-and-one-half (1½) hours off for 


each hour of overtime worked. 


5.3.2 Records 
 
 All compensatory time accrued shall be properly recorded in the time and attendance 


payroll records. 
 
5.3.3 Accrual Cap 


 
Effective upon Board adoption of this 2018-21Memorandum of Understanding, the 
accumulation of CTO in any single fiscal year will be limited to a maximum of sixty (60) 
hours.  
 
Employees may carry over their unused CTO hours from fiscal year to fiscal year. 
However, at no time may the employee receive CTO in lieu of overtime pay that would 
cause the employee’s accumulated CTO balance to exceed one hundred twenty hours 
(120).   
    
Compensatory time off may be taken upon the employee’s request, subject to approval 
by the scheduling supervisor.  The Agency shall not unreasonably deny the employee’s 
request (i.e. grant the request unless the requested time off would unduly disrupt the 
Agency’s operations).       
 
Employees who are subpoenaed to testify before a court or in an administrative agency 
proceeding must notify their supervisor as soon as practicable of the date and time of 
the required appearance and provide a copy of the subpoena.  If the appearance is 
scheduled to occur during the employee’s workweek but not on the employee’s shift, the 
agency will attempt to alter the employee’s schedule to provide the employee a 
reasonable period of rest on the night before or after the appearance (or both) as 
reasonably determined by the Agency Director to be reasonably necessary.  If the 
appearance and the accommodation of reasonable rest, as determined by the Agency 
Director, dictates that the employee miss a portion or the entirety of his or her 
scheduled shift and it cannot be rescheduled within the employee’s normal workweek, 
the employee will be granted administrative leave with pay for the portion of the shift 
missed.  This paragraph applies only to appearances concerning circumstances within 
the course and scope of the employee’s Agency employment and to which the 
employee is not a plaintiff against the Agency or its member agencies. 


 


 







 


 8 


 


5.3.4 Compensatory Cash Out 
 
Compensatory time cash out must be in increments of four (4) hours. 


Employees may cash out up to forty (40) hours of accrued compensatory time off in June 
and December of each year.  Employees must provide a written request to the Executive 
Director at least thirty (30) days in advance.   


 
5.4 Posting/Notice of Schedule 
 


The Agency shall post work schedules at least four (4) weeks in advance.  Insofar as practical, 
the Agency shall update posted work schedules as changes occur.  The agency shall pay 
overtime at the rate of time and one half (1½) for the first rescheduled shift the employee works 
with less than a five (5) day notice.  


5.5 Meal Periods 


 5.5.1 Meal and Rest Periods  
 
All employees working an eight (8) hour shift in a day shall receive a thirty (30) minute 
meal period and two (2) fifteen (15) minute rest periods in each day. 


All employees working a twelve (12) hour shift in a day shall receive a thirty (30) minute 
meal period and three (3) fifteen (15) minute rest periods in each day.  


All employees working a ten (10) hour shift shall receive a thirty (30) minute meal period 
and two (2) twenty (20) minute rest periods. 


5.5.2 Scheduling Meals and Rest Periods 
 
 Supervisors and employees will develop mutually agreeable break and meal periods, 


schedules, providing minimum staffing coverage.  One rest period may be combined with 
a meal period with the approval of the immediate supervisor. Rest periods not granted or 
granted and not taken due to emergency operational necessity shall not be accumulated.  
Rest periods shall not be unreasonably denied. 


ARTICLE 6. PROBATION PERIOD 


6.1 New Employees 


 6.1.1 Dispatcher Assistants 
 
Newly hired Dispatcher Assistants shall serve a total of twelve (12) months as a 
probationary period. The probationary employee shall acquire regular status at the 
successful completion of the twelve (12) month period of time. Performance evaluations 
and merit increases shall occur at six (6) months and then at the completion of twelve 
(12) months in the Dispatcher Assistant classification and then annually thereafter.  







 


 9 


 
 
6.1.2 Dispatcher l, ll, and lll 


 
Newly hired Dispatcher I/II personnel shall serve a total of eighteen (18) months as a 
probationary period.  The probationary employee shall acquire regular status at the end 
of the eighteen (18) month period of time.  Newly hired regular part-time employees shall 
serve a probationary period of twenty-four (24) months.  


 
A Dispatch Assistant who is promoted to Dispatcher I shall serve a probation period of 
twelve (12) months. 


 
A newly promoted Dispatcher III shall serve a total of twelve (12) months as a 
probationary period. During the probationary period, a performance evaluation shall be 
given in accordance with YECA Policy.  


  
6.2 Upon Voluntary Demotion 
 
 Upon a voluntary demotion, employees shall serve a total of nine (9) month probationary period 


with a merit increase and performance evaluation occurring after the successful completion of 
the nine (9) month probationary period.  


 
6.3 Former Employees   
 


At the discretion of the Agency, former Agency employees who are rehired within twelve (12) 
months of separation from the Agency may serve an abbreviated probation period of six (6) 
months.  


6.4 Dismissal 
 
 The probationary period is considered an extension of the selection process.  An employee may 


be rejected from a probationary appointment at any time without right of appeal, hearing or 
review. 


 
6.5 Extension of Probation 
 


Upon written agreement between the Agency Executive Director and the Association, the 
employee’s probation may be extended for a period not to exceed three (3) months.  Any 
extension of a probationary period shall be for training purposes.   


ARTICLE 7. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 


7.1 Probationary Employees 
 


The immediate supervisor shall conduct performance evaluations of each probationary 
employee at regular intervals during the probationary period as provided in YECA Personnel 
Policies.  


 







 


 10 


 
 
7.2 Regular Employees 
 


In accordance with current personnel policy, performance evaluations of employees who have 
gained regular status shall be performed at least once annually to coincide with the employees’ 
anniversary date.  Upon request, employees have a right to review evaluations and verbally 
discuss the evaluation with their supervisor prior to final completion of the evaluation.  Upon final 
completion, the employee shall sign the form, indicating only that they have been provided a 
copy of the evaluation.  The employee shall have thirty (30) days in which to respond in writing 
to the evaluation if they so choose and have that response attached to the evaluation.  Step 
increases shall not be held due to delay in completing performance appraisal paperwork.   


ARTICLE 8. HOLIDAYS   
 
8.1 Holiday Pay 
 


Each full-time employee covered by this Agreement shall receive holiday pay monthly.  
Employees shall be paid for twelve (12) holidays per year at the rate of eight (8) hours per month. 
However, employees may in the first two weeks of June elect to forego such payments for up to 
two (2) of the holidays and use them instead as paid floating holidays in the ensuing fiscal year, 
and payment for the remaining ten (10) will be evenly dispersed over twenty-four pay periods in 
the ensuing fiscal year. 


8.2 Floating Holiday 
 
 Regular employees shall be granted up to sixteen (16) hours per fiscal year of non-accumulative, 


floating holiday time, which may be taken off as full or partial days upon the Executive Director 
or his/her designee’s prior approval.  Employees hired after July 1 of the fiscal year shall be 
granted such floating holidays on a prorated basis.  Upon termination of employment, floating 
holidays shall be paid at the straight time rate. 


 
8.3 Holiday Pay for Regular Part-Time Employees 
 


Regular part-time employees shall receive a pro rata share of holiday hours allocated to full-time 
employees based on the direct proportion  the part-time service bears to regular full-time service 


 
8.4 Pay for Holidays Worked  
 


Regular employees who work on the following holidays, whether regularly scheduled or who are 
on voluntary or assigned overtime, shall be entitled to receive overtime at one-and-one half (1½) 
times the hours worked.  Employees covered by this agreement shall receive overtime pay for 
the actual date of the following holidays, not the date observed by administrative personnel:   


 
Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday 
President’s Day  
Memorial Day,  
Labor Day,  







 


 11 


Veterans’ Day  
Friday following Thanksgiving Day  


 
Regular employees who work on the following holidays, whether regularly scheduled or who 
are on voluntary or assigned overtime, shall be entitled to receive overtime at double (2X) 
times the hours worked. Employees covered by this MOU shall receive overtime pay for the 
actual date of the holiday, not the date observed by administrative personnel:  
 


January 1 – New Years’ Day  
July 4th – Independence Day  
Thanksgiving Day  
 December 25 – Christmas Day 


ARTICLE 9. VACATION       
 
9.1 Eligibility 
 
 Regular employees shall be entitled to a paid vacation after thirteen (13) consecutive bi-weekly 


periods of employment.  Vacation shall be taken only to the extent already accrued.  
 
Employees are encouraged to utilize vacation hours first prior to using compensatory time in 
order to avoid reaching the maximum accrual of vacation hours.  
 


9.2 Accruals 
 


Regular full-time employees shall accrue vacation in accordance with the following schedule: 
 
 After 13 bi-weekly periods:   3.08 hours per bi-weekly period 


 After 3 years:     4.62 hours per bi-weekly period 


 After 8 years      4.93 hours per bi-weekly period 


After 12 years    5.24 hours per bi-weekly period 


 After 13 years    5.54 hours per bi-weekly period 


 After 14 years    5.85 hours per bi-weekly period 


 After 15 years    6.16 hours per bi-weekly period 


 After 16 years    6.47 hours per bi-weekly period 


 
9.3 Vacation Accrual for Regular Part-Time Employees 


 
Regular part-time employees shall accrue a pro rata share of vacation hours allocated to full-
time employees based on the number of regularly scheduled hours in a month.  
 


9.4 Maximum Vacation Accumulation 
 
 Vacation shall be scheduled so large amounts of vacation time will not be accumulated.  A full-


time employee will not be permitted to accumulate unused vacation in excess of two hundred 
eighty (280) hours.  Full-time employees with fifteen (15) years of service may accumulate up to 







 


 12 


three hundred twenty (320) hours of unused vacation.  A regular part-time employee may 
accumulate a maximum of one hundred and forty hours (140) of unused vacation.  


 
9.5 Vacation Bidding 
 
 Vacation leave is normally scheduled in advance and shall be approved by the employee’s 


immediate supervisor.  Each employee shall be permitted to exercise their right of seniority as 
defined in Article 16, Seniority for one (1) primary vacation period per year.  Bidding shall take 
place in the request period between October and November for the following calendar year, and 
shall occur as outlined below.  Calendar year for the purpose of vacation assignments is 
February 1st through January 31st.  
 
9.5.1  Primary Vacation Requests 
 


All employees shall have the right to request a primary vacation not to exceed two (2) 
weeks in duration.  After all employees have had an opportunity to bid for a primary 
vacation, those employees with ten (10) to fifteen (15) years of service will have the 
opportunity to bid for a third week, and subsequently, employees with sixteen (16) years 
or more years of service will be eligible to bid for a fourth week of primary vacation.   
 
The Executive Director or his/her designee must approve vacation bids for time in excess 
of two (2) weeks.  Primary vacation schedules will be posted by the end of November.  
Employees are not responsible for finding coverage for primary vacation requests.  
Employees may not exercise their seniority for more than one (1) year for designated 
desirable vacation times unless no one requests the same time (designated desirable 
vacation times shall mean Christmas, Thanksgiving or July/August). Primary vacation 
requests submitted after the posting period, (end of November) will not be considered. 
 
During primary vacation selection, employees will be permitted to “split” their primary 
vacation request into two non-consecutive weeks.  The first week will be selected in order 
of seniority during the Primary Vacation Requests bidding in accordance with this Section 
9.5.1. 
 
After all employees have been afforded an opportunity to select a primary vacation, any 
employee who selected only one week may then select a second week, in order of 
seniority.  After all employees have been offered an opportunity to select two (2) weeks 
primary vacation, eligible employees will bid for their third and fourth week, secondary 
vacation requests shall proceed in accordance with Section 9.5.2. 
 


9.5.2  Secondary Vacation Requests 
 


Employees may also bid in order of seniority for a secondary vacation request during a 
posted time period prior to each shift schedule change.  Secondary vacation requests are 
subject to minimum staffing needs.  Requests will not exceed two (2) weeks.   
 
A secondary vacation request may be “split”. The request cannot be split more than once.  
Each section of the split must have a minimum of four (4) days.  For example, an 







 


 13 


employee who exercises his/her seniority for a secondary vacation could request the first 
seven (7) days in the month of May and the last seven (7) days in the month of May. 


 
9.5.3 Seniority Requests  
 


Employees may exercise their right of seniority (after their 10 year and 16 year 
anniversary dates) for the additional accrued week of vacation during the annual vacation 
sign-up. However, the additional requested vacation time should fall after the employee’s 
anniversary date for that calendar year.  
 
If there is a conflict in available time for the additional week (i.e., no time available), the 
employee should contact their immediate supervisor to work out a resolution. 
 
In the case of a supervisor (that has promoted from within) who has demoted to 
Dispatcher II, time served as a supervisor will be included in Dispatcher II classification 
seniority. 
 


9.5.4  Separate Bids for Supervisors  
 


It is the intent of the Agency to have supervisors select vacation separately from 
employees covered by this MOU when there is sufficient staffing. 
 


9.6 Absence 
 


An employee who is absent without pay more than forty (40) hours in a bi-weekly pay period 
shall not earn vacation for that pay period. 


 
9.7 Illness While On Vacation 
 An employee who is on regularly scheduled vacation and becomes ill may request to use sick 


leave for those days by providing the Employer with medical certification of the illness/injury. 
 
9.8 Vacation Cash Out 


Employees may cash out up to forty (40) hours of accrued vacation per calendar year, payable 
in either or both April or October.  Employees must submit a written request to the Executive 
Director, on the form specified by the Agency, setting forth the specific number of vacation hours 
the employee desires to cash out at least thirty (30) days prior to October 1 or April 1, depending 
on the month in which the employee desires to cash out vacation.   Vacation must be cashed 
out in a minimum of four (4) hour increments.  An employee whose vacation balance is 
insufficient to receive the full amount of cash out indicated on the employee’s election form will 
receive cash out to the extent he or she has accumulated vacation hours available in his or her 
vacation account subject to the four (4) hour requirement above..   


 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 14 


ARTICLE 10. SICK LEAVE 
 
10.1 Accrual 


 
10.1.1 Full-Time Employees 
 
 Regular full-time employees shall accrue 3.70 hours of sick leave with each bi-weekly pay 


period of service.  All unused sick leave may be carried forward into each ensuing year. 
 


10.1.2 Part-Time Employees 
 
 Regular part-time employees shall accrue sick leave in direct proportion as the part-time 


service bears to regular full-time service. 
 


10.1.3 Leave without Pay 
 
 An employee who is absent without pay more than forty (40) hours in a bi-weekly pay 


period shall not earn sick leave for that pay period. 
 
10.2 Sick Leave Usage 
 


10.2.1 Sick Leave Usage 
 
 Sick leave may be granted for illness of the employee or the employee’s immediate family.  


Sick leave shall be granted only to the extent it has already accrued.  For the purposes 
of this article, immediate family shall mean the employee’s spouse/ registered domestic 
partner, parent, child or child of the domestic partner. Before granting approval the 
supervisor may require reasonable verification of the need for sick leave use. Employees 
must be notified in advance of such a requirement.   


 
 The Employer may request a doctor’s note for an employee’s illness causing absence of 


three (3) or more consecutive shifts; or if a documented pattern of abuse has been 
established or when abuse is suspected.  


 
10.2.2 Medical and Dental Appointments 
 
 Sick leave may be used for medical and dental office appointments when authorized by 


the supervisor when such medical and dental appointments cannot be made outside 
normal working hours.  Once the appointment has been approved, the Employer will 
make every effort to release the employee from duty. 


 
10.3 Sick Leave Usage While On Leave 
 


10.3.1 Maternity Leave  
  
 Maternity leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable State and Federal laws.  


Sick leave shall be utilized for the disability portion of the leave. 
 







 


 15 


10.3.2 Adoptive Leave  


 


 Adoptive leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable state and federal laws.  
Request for leave shall be submitted to the Executive Director as soon as feasible.  Sick 
leave may be utilized as specified in 10.2.1.   


 
  
 
 
 10.3.3 Child Bonding Leave 


 
 Child Bonding leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable State and Federal 


laws.  Request for leave shall be submitted to the Executive Director as soon as feasible.  
Sick leave may be utilized as specified in 10.2.1. 


 
10.3.4 Paid Leave Exclusions   
 
 Sick leave shall not be authorized when the disability arises from willful misconduct. 


 
10.4 Sick Leave Payoff 
  
 An employee may elect to be paid for one-half (½) of any accumulated sick leave in excess of 


two hundred (200) hours upon his/her retirement, layoff or death.  No other payment for 
accumulated sick leave shall be made upon termination of employment. 


 
10.5 Sick Leave Incentive Pay 
 
 10.5.1 Qualifications 


 
 Consideration will be given to all personnel who were YECA employees on December 1 


or before, of the preceding year. Employees must be employed for one (1) full year before 
qualifying for this program. 


 
 10.5.2 Review Period 


 
The sick leave review period will the first pay date in November through the last pay date 
in October each year.  Incentive bonus payments will be made no later than the second 
pay date in November of each year. 


 
10.5.3 Incentive Bonus 


 
Employees who use sick leave for less than 2.12% of all work time including overtime 
shall be eligible for an incentive bonus of Four Hundred Dollars ($400.00).  Any employee 
utilizing sick leave for less than 1.06% of all work time (including overtime) shall be eligible 
for an incentive bonus of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00).  Part-time employees are 
eligible for a pro rata share of the incentive bonus.  
 


 







 


 16 


ARTICLE 11. LEAVES 
 
11.1 On the Job Injury/Illness 
  
 If an industrial injury or illness results in an employee being absent from work, accumulated sick 


leave shall be applied to time off work in an amount which, when added to Workers’ 
Compensation benefits (paid or payable), provides compensation equal to the employee’s base 
wages or salary.  Upon the exhaustion of accumulated sick leave, vacation, floating holidays 
and other accrued leaves shall be applied in the same manner. 


 
If an employee receives Workers’ Compensation payments which, when added to the sums paid 
or payable pursuant to the above provisions, exceed the employee’s base wages or salary for 
the period of absence, the employee shall repay the Agency the amount of such excess 
whereupon the Agency will adjust the employee’s accrued leave balance accordingly.  If the 
employee fails to repay the Agency within thirty (30) days of a written request therefore, any 
further amounts payable under this Section shall be reduced by the amount of such unpaid 
excess payment(s). 
 
On the Job Injury/Illness leave shall run concurrent with Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) time. 
In accordance with the FMLA, the Agency shall pay for medical and dental premiums for the first 
three (3) months of the leave in the same amount paid on behalf of the employee while at work.  


 
 11.1.1 Accruals 


 
 An employee who has been injured on the job and is receiving Workers’ Compensation 


shall continue to receive sick leave, vacation, and holidays. 
 
 11.1.2 Exhaustion of Benefits 


 
 An employee who has exhausted Workers’ Compensation payments and all accrued 


leaves may request a leave of absence without pay.  An employee who fails to submit a 
written request for such leave before the expiration of Workers’ Compensation payments 
and accrued leave shall be subject to disciplinary action and may be deemed to have 
automatically resigned. 


 
11.1.3 Reporting an Injury/Illness 
 
 An employee who is injured on the job shall, within twenty-four (24) hours, report on 


prescribed forms such injury to the employee’s immediate supervisor.  Failure to do so 
shall be a valid reason for disciplinary action. 


 
11.2 Military Leave 
  
 The Agency shall grant military leave in accordance with the California Military and Veterans 


Code and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (“USSERA”).  
The Executive Director shall be properly notified in writing of impending leave at least two (2) 
months prior to the pending leave or as soon thereafter as possible. 


 







 


 17 


11.3 Jury Duty 
 
 An employee shall receive his/her regular salary for any such period of required service as a 


juror or witness.  All monies received from the courts for jury per-diem shall be surrendered to 
the Agency.  Employees shall report for work when less than a normal workday is required by 
such duties. 


 
 When reasonable, an employee on jury duty will be administratively reassigned to day shift for 


the extent of such jury duty.  The decision regarding such a change in shifts will be dependent 
on the jury duty requirements and duration.  


 
11.4 Leave of Absence without Pay 
 
 Leave of absence without pay may be requested in writing by the employee to the Executive 


Director.  Such leave may be granted at the discretion of the Executive Director.  No holiday, 
vacation, sick leave, or other benefits are earned during the leave of absence.  The leave shall 
be without pay.  Leave of absence without pay may be granted only after all accrued vacation 
has been exhausted.  The Executive Director may approve a leave prior to the exhaustion of all 
accrued vacation leave on a case by case basis. 


 
11.5 Bereavement Leave 
 
 Upon approval of the Executive Director or designee, bereavement leave because of the death 


of a member of an employee’s immediate family shall be granted with pay not to exceed three 
(3) working days.  An employee may request additional time off and if approved may use from 
accrued leave balances. 


 
An employee’s immediate family shall mean employee’s spouse/registered domestic partner, 
child/ stepchild, child/stepchild of domestic partner, father, mother, brother, sister, mother-in-law, 
father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandmother, grandfather and grandchildren. Such 
leave shall not be charged against an employee’s vacation or sick leave but shall be in addition 
to such leave.  An employee may be requested to furnish satisfactory verification for use of family 
bereavement leave.   
 
Additionally, the Executive Director will consider granting an employee time off for bereavement 
leave for others not designated in the above category and if approved, the employee may use 
accrued leave balances.  
 
Leave taken under this Section will not count against an employee for the purpose of determining 
sick leave bonus eligibility. 


 
11.6 Revocation of Leave 
 
 The Executive Director may revoke or terminate any leave of absence upon determining that the 


cause for granting it was misrepresented or has ceased to exist. 
 
 
 







 


 18 


11.7  Family and Medical Leave Act 
 
The Agency shall comply with the provisions of the federal Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 
and the State of California Family Rights Act (CFRA).  FMLA/CFRA time shall run concurrently 
with sick, vacation and any other paid leave balances.  If an employee exhausts all paid leave 
prior to the expiration of the FMLA/CFRA leave, the employee shall be entitled to unpaid leave 
for the duration of the eligible qualifying event.  The employee shall have the option to use 
accrued compensatory time off (CTO) for an FMLA/CFRA-qualifying event. 


 
11.8 Job Abandonment 


 
Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, all absences require that the employee 
provide advance notice to and receive the approval of a supervisor.  Except as otherwise 
provided by applicable law, an employee who is absent without notice and without supervisory 
approval for five (5) consecutive work days will not be paid for the period of absence and will  
be deemed to have abandoned his or her position and voluntarily resigned effective at the 
conclusion of the work day of the fifth consecutive absence.   
 
The individual who has constructively voluntarily resigned shall be sent a confirmation of his or 
her constructive voluntary resignation from employment.  Such confirmation shall be sent (by 
certified mail, return receipt requested) to the individual’s last recorded address contained in 
his or her Agency personnel file.  Such notice shall specify the date, time, and location at 
which the individual may meet with the Executive Director or his/her designee to provide any 
facts, other evidence, or arguments the individual may wish to offer to explain the absence and 
why it should not be deemed a constructive resignation.  On request, the individual may ask for 
and be granted the right to have an Association representative in attendance at such meeting. 
The Executive Director (or designee) may reinstate the individual if, in the Executive Director’s 
opinion, the information provided by the individual warrants such reinstatement.   
 


ARTICLE 12. WAGES AND PAY PROVISIONS 
 
12.1 Base wage rates of covered classifications in effect on the day before this MOU takes effect will 


remain unchanged except as provided in this MOU.  Base wage rates effective July 1, 2018 for 
the Dispatch Assistant classification are listed below and in Appendix A.  Base wage rates 
effective January 1, 2019 for all covered classifications are listed below and in Appendix A.  Base 
wage rates effective January 1, 2020 and January 1, 2021, respectively, are listed in in Appendix 
A.   
 
On the first day of the first full pay period falling on or after July 1, 2018 the base wage rates of 
the Dispatch Assistant classification and employees in that classification shall be established 
as shown immediately below. 
 
Dispatch Assistant classification: 
 
Step No.        Base Hourly Rate 
 
1          $20.29 
2          $20.89 







 


 19 


3          $21.93 
4          $23.04 
5          $23.04 
 
On the first day of the first full pay period falling on or after January 1, 2019 the base wage 
rates of covered classifications and employees shall be adjusted as shown immediately below. 
 
Dispatch Assistant classification: 
 
Step No.  Percent Increase    Resulting Hourly Rate 
 
1    0%      $20.29 
2    0%      $20.89 
3    0%      $21.93 
4    1.48%      $23.38 
5    6.51%      $24.54 
 
Dispatcher I classification: 
 
Step No.  Percent Increase    Resulting Hourly Rate 
 
1      0%      $21.52 
2    0%      $22.16 
3    0%      $22.83 
4    0%      $23.52 
5    0%      $24.24 
 
Dispatcher II classification: 
 
Step No.  Percent Increase    Resulting Hourly Rate 
 
6    2.6%      $28.00 
7    3.3%      $29.00 
8    3.7%      $30.00 
9    5.0%      $31.00 
10    6.3%      $32.00 
 
Dispatcher III classification: 
 
Step No.  Percent Increase    Resulting Hourly Rate 
 
1    8.4%      $33.60 
2    7.3%      $34.27 
3    6.3%      $34.96 
 
On the first day of the first full pay period falling on or after January 1, 2020 the base wage 
rates of covered classifications and employees shall increase by two percent (2.0%) of the 







 


 20 


base wage rates in effect on December 31, 2019.  Said rates are reflected in Appendix A of 
this MOU. 
 
On the first day of the first full pay period falling on or after January 1, 2021 the base wage 
rates of covered classifications and employees shall increase by two percent (2.0%) of the 
base wage rates in effect on December 31, 2020.  Said rates are reflected in Appendix A of 
this MOU. 
 


12.2 Call Back Pay 
 
When an employee is called back to work after he/she has completed an assigned shift and left 
the work site, the employee shall be credited for all hours worked or minimum of three (3) hours 
whichever is greater.  


 
 Call back time shall be paid at the overtime rate. 
 
 Time worked, for which the employee is entitled to compensation, shall include reasonable travel 


to the worksite not to exceed forty five (45) minutes. 
 
12.3 Shift Differential and Rotation 
 
 12.3.1 Shift Pay 


 
An employee shall be paid an additional Ninety Cents (.90¢) for each hour worked 
between 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.   


 
12.3.2 Shift Rotation 
  
 Dispatchers on probation and/or with less than three (3) years of Agency service shall be 


required to change their shift choice once in every three rotations.    Dispatchers with a 
minimum of three (3) years of experience within classification, or three (3) years of 
combined experience as a Dispatcher I/II or III shall not be subject to rotation provided 
there is equal distribution of skill levels among all shifts. The Agency reserves the right to 
place personnel by seniority to ensure equal staffing without a re-bid.  


 
 This provision does not apply to Dispatch Assistants. 
  
12.3.3 Trades of Shift Rotations 
  
 Employees may trade shift rotations with other employees but the request must be 


approved by the immediate supervisor and Operations Manager prior to the posting of 
the work schedules.  The Agency reserves the right to change individual employees’ 
schedules in order to provide for a balance of skills, abilities and experience or due to 
conflicts between employees on the same shift.  At the request of the Association, the 
Executive Director will meet to discuss the reasons for and the duration of any changes.  


 
 
 







 


 21 


12.4 Bilingual Pay 
 
 Agency agrees to maintain the current bilingual pay plan and pay eligible employees one 


hundred fifteen Dollars ($115.00) per month for bilingual pay. Qualifying second languages 
include Russian and Spanish.  
 


12.5 Training Pay 
  


The Agency shall pay Dispatch employees it assigns to train other Agency employees a five 
percent (5%) premium over the employee’s base hourly wage rate for each such assignment of 
one (1) or more hours.  Such premium will not apply to “sit-a-longs or to orientation of new 
employees or non-employee candidates for Agency employment. 


 
12.6 Standby Duty (On-Call) 
 
 12.6.1 Notice 


 
 When an employee is assigned standby duty, the agency shall inform the employee of 


the dates and hours of such assignment at least one (1) week in advance, except in 
unforeseen circumstances. 


 
12.6.2 Stand by Pay 


 
Employees scheduled or placed on standby duty shall be paid at the rate of $2.50 per 
hour on regular work days and days off for the entire scheduled period of such assignment 
(until such time as the employee is called and returns to work). 


 
 12.6.3 Requirements of Duty 


  
 Standby duty requires the employee so assigned: 
 
 1. To be ready to respond immediately to calls for service; 


2. To be reachable by telephone or pager; 
  3. To remain within a reasonable distance of the work location; and 


4. To refrain from activities that might impair the employee’s ability to perform 
assigned duties. 


12.7 Longevity Pay 
 
Effective July 1, 2015, all employees who have completed ten (10) fifteen (15) and twenty (20) 
years of service shall receive the following monthly longevity pay increases to their regular 
monthly pay beginning with the anniversary of their 10th, 15th or 20th year.  
 


 10 years of service: $115.00 per month 


 15 years of service: $165.00 per month 


  20 years of service: $215.00 per month 


 







 


 22 


12.8  Court Overtime 
 
If an employee covered by this MOU is required by subpoena to appear in court or to give a 
deposition as a result of action taken or observed within the scope of employment with the 
Agency, the employee shall receive their full pay while doing so with no loss of time if they are 
on regular duty.   


 
If the employee is not on duty, the Agency shall compensate the employee at one- and-one-half 
(1½) times their regular rate of pay for two (2) hours or the actual time spent in any appearance, 
whichever is greater. 
 
Court appearances cancelled with less than twelve (12) hours’ notice on an employee’s day off 
shall be compensated at a rate of two (2) hours, paid at the employee’s regular rate of pay. 


 
ARTICLE 13. HEALTH, WELFARE AND RETIREMENT 
 
13.1 Health Benefits 
 
 The Agency will provide a group medical insurance program through the CalPERS Public 


Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) for all eligible employees.  
 


13.1.1 Flexible Benefits Plan 
 
The Agency provides a Flexible Benefits Plan which includes medical, dental, vision and 
a cash option. 


  
Upon proof of alternate medical insurance, the employee may opt out of medical 
coverage.  Participation in the dental and vision coverage is mandatory and the premiums 
shall be deducted pre-tax from the employee’s portion of the cash option provided for in 
Section 13.1.3.  
 
Regular part-time employees who are regularly assigned to work more than twenty (20) 
hours and less than forty (40) hours per week will receive fifty percent (50%) of the full-
time benefit.   


 
The Agency shall provide the CalPERS medical plan provisions for coverage of registered 
domestic partners. 


 
13.1.2 Contributions to the Flexible Benefits Plan  
 


The Agency shall contribute ninety percent (90%) of the CalPERS Sacramento Regional 
rate of the Kaiser HMO Employee+1 or Family plan or Eight hundred fifty dollars ($850.00) 
for the Employee-Only plan, whichever is higher.  The employee shall pay the balance of 
any remaining premium cost.  
 
An employee who waives medical coverage may receive a cash distribution up to a 
maximum of five hundred dollars ($500.00) per month and shall pay the employee portion 
of the dental and vision premiums out of that amount. 







 


 23 


 
If medical premiums exceed the amount of the Agency’s contribution into the Flexible 
Benefits Plan, the employee shall pay the remaining monthly premium through payroll 
deduction. 


 
 
13.2 Dental Benefits 
 
 The Agency shall maintain the existing benefits provided through a group dental plan, as part of 


the flexible benefits plan.  All employees are required to select the dental plan. 
 


13.3 Vision Plan 
 


The Agency shall provide vision insurance as part of the flexible benefits plan.  All employees 
are required to select the vision plan. 


 
13.4 Short/Long Term Disability Insurance 
 


All employees are required to participate in the disability plan.  Premium cost is based on salary 
and paid by the employee through payroll deduction.  Any changes to the current disability plan 
shall be by mutual agreement of the Association and the Employer. 


 
13.5 Life Insurance 
 


The Agency shall provide for group life insurance equal to the employee’s annual salary at the 
Employer’s expense.  
 


13.6 Changes in Insurance  
 


The Agency and Association shall meet during the term of this Agreement at the request of either 
party to consider alternative medical, dental, vision, disability and life insurance plans.  Other 
modifications or substitution of plans shall be by mutual agreement between the Association and 
the Employer. 


 
13.7 IRS 125 Plan 
 
 The Agency will provide an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Plan to redirect employees’ pre-


selected amount of salary to pay employee paid insurance premiums and other approved 
expenses.  The Agency will not treat these monies as compensation subject to income tax 
withholding unless the Internal Revenue Service or the Franchise Tax Board indicates that such 
contributions are taxable income subject to withholding. Each employee shall be solely and 
personally responsible for any federal, state or local tax liabilities of the employee that may arise 
out of the implementation of this section or any penalty that may be imposed thereof.  


 
13.8 Retirement 
 
 The Agency contracts with California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) to 


provide for the following benefits: 







 


 24 


 
 13.8.1 PERS Plan for “Classic” PERS Members 
 


 In accordance with the Agency’s contract with CalPERS, employees hired on or before 
December 31, 2012 or who are recognized as “Classic” members by CalPERS shall 
receive 2%@55, single highest year compensation earnable formula, optional settlement 
2W death benefit, two percent (2%) cost-of-living allowance (COLA) and unused sick 
leave conversion at retirement.   


 
 These employees shall pay, on a pre-tax basis through payroll deduction, the seven 


percent (7%) employee contribution. 
 
13.8.2 PERS Plan for Employees Hired as New CalPERS Members  
 


Employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 as new members to CalPERS, shall receive: 
2%@62, highest thirty-six (36) month average pensionable compensation formula, 
optional settlement 2W death benefit, two percent (2%) cost-of-living allowance (COLA) 
and unused sick leave conversion at retirement. 
 
These employees shall pay, on a pre-tax basis through payroll deduction, fifty percent 
(50%) of the total normal cost for their retirement plan as determined by CalPERS. 
 


 13.8.3 Medical 
 


 The Agency shall pay the CalPERS required monthly contribution toward the monthly 
premium for retiree medical coverage of an employee who retires after July 1, 1982, 
pursuant to the resolution adopted by YECA on May 9, 1989. 


 
ARTICLE 14. DISCIPLINE 
 
14.1 Disciplinary Action Defined 
 


Disciplinary action means a written reprimand, suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in 
pay, or discharge from Agency service.    A demotion to the classification previously held and 
any reduction in pay attendant upon the failure of an employee to pass promotional probation 
does not constitute disciplinary action for purposes of this MOU. 


 
14.2 Cause for Discipline 
 
 The Agency may take disciplinary action against a regular employee only for due cause.  Due 


cause shall consist of any of the following grounds: 
 
  (1) Incompetence or inefficiency on the job; 
 
  (2) Insubordination; 
 
  (3) Intoxication while on duty; 
 







 


 25 


(4) Negligence or willful damage to public property or the unauthorized use, theft or 
waste of public supplies or equipment; 


 
(5) The violation of any proper law or regulation, Agency policy or procedure (including 


the provisions of this MOU) or order made and given by a superior; 
 
(6) Dishonesty, including the falsification of an employment application or other 


Agency record; 
 
(7) Unauthorized absence from duty (including, but not limited to, failure to return to 


duty after an authorized leave);  
 
(8) Conviction of a felony or other crime involving moral turpitude; or 
 
(9) Other substantial on/or off-duty misconduct reasonably and directly related to the 


employee’s public duties. 
 


14.2.1 The Executive Director or his/her designee may transfer an employee or place him/her 
on administrative leave with pay pending investigation of allegations of misconduct if the 
Executive Director or his/her designee determines that it is in the Agency’s and/or 
employee’s interest to do so. 


 
14.3 Notice of Discipline 
 


Before the Agency makes a final decision to impose disciplinary action on a regular employee, 
who has passed initial probation, by demotion, suspension without pay, reduction in pay or 
discharge, the Agency shall give the employee notice of the proposed disciplinary action, the 
reasons for the proposed action, a copy of the charges and materials upon which the proposed 
action is based, and the right to respond, either orally or in writing, within a specified period of 
not less than ten (10) calendar days in the case of proposed discharge).  The notice shall include 
a statement advising the employee of the right to Association representation at the meeting.  Any 
such meeting to hear the employee’s response shall be conducted by an Agency designee.  An 
employee who fails to respond either orally or in writing, within the time specified in such notice 
shall be deemed to have waived any and all right(s) to appeal or otherwise contest or challenge 
the proposed disciplinary action.  The Agency designee shall cause a notice of the designee’s 
decision to be sent to the employee, by certified mail, return receipt requested.  The notice shall 
set forth any disciplinary action that will be imposed, and the effective date of that action.  The 
notice shall further set forth the employee’s right to appeal the decision as set forth in subsection 
14.4 of this MOU.    


 
14.4 Appeal of Discipline 
 
 Except as provided in subsection 14.3 above, a regular employee who has passed initial 


probation and who is subject to disciplinary action by suspension without pay, demotion, 
reduction in pay, or discharge may appeal the action by filing a written a grievance in the manner 
specified in Article 15 below.  If the written grievance is not filed within the time limit specified 
therein, the employee and Association shall be deemed to have waived the right to appeal or 







 


 26 


otherwise contest or challenge the disciplinary action and no proceedings shall be taken upon 
the appeal.   


 
14.5 Withdrawal of Written Reprimand 
 
 An employee who receives a written reprimand may, upon written notice to the Agency Director,  


have such reprimand removed from the employee’s personnel file and destroyed if the employee 
has been subject to no further disciplinary action within the five years immediately preceding the 
date of the notice to the Agency Director.  


 


ARTICLE 15. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
15.1 Purpose 
 
 The purposes of this Article are: 


 
(a) To equitably resolve employee grievances at the lowest level of administrative 


responsibility, if possible; and 
 
(b) To provide an orderly procedure for reviewing and promptly resolving grievances. 


 
15.2 Definition 
 


“Grievance” shall mean a dispute of or claim challenging a disciplinary action as specified in 
Section 14.1 of this Memorandum of Understanding.  A “grievance” also means any dispute 
which arises over the interpretation, application or alleged violation of this MOU or any policy or 
procedure presently in force or as may from time to time be adopted by the Agency on matters 
relating to the employee’s employment relationship, unless otherwise provided in the Agency’s 
policies or procedures. 


 
15.3 General Terms 
 


15.3.1 No reprisal of any nature shall be taken against any employee for participating in the 
grievance procedure. 


 
15.3.2 Any party may be represented or assisted at any level of the procedure by a 


representative of the party’s choosing. 
 


15.3.3 The grievant, the grievant’ s witnesses, and the grievant’s representative shall suffer no 
loss of compensation or benefits while participating in the grievance procedure, which will 
include no more than thirty (30) minutes preparation time per grievance. 


 
15.3.4 Grievances, other than Association grievances, shall be initially signed by the employee 


or employees filing the grievance. 
 


15.3.5 There shall be no hearing, witness testimony, or cross-examination at any level prior to 
the hearing stage of the formal procedure. 
 







 


 27 


15.4 Time Limits 
 
15.4.1 The time limits specified in each step of the grievance procedure shall be strictly 


observed.  The time limits may be extended only by mutual written agreement of the 
parties. 


 
15.4.2 Failure of a grievant to observe a time limit shall terminate the grievance.  Failure of the 


Agency or the designated representative to whom the grievance is submitted to observe 
the time limit shall cause the grievance to automatically move to the next level of review.  
The Association shall notify the Executive Director in writing that the grievance is moved 
to the next step. 


 
15.5 Access to Grievance 
 
 15.5.1 An employee, group of employees or the Association may file a grievance. 
 
15.6 Procedure 
 


15.6.1 Informal Grievance 
 
 The grievant shall initially present and discuss the grievance with his or her immediate 


supervisor and shall identify the presentation as the informal step of this procedure.  Such 
presentation shall be initiated by the grievance within ten (10) calendar days of the event 
giving rise to the grievance, within ten  (10) calendar days of the discovery of such event, 
but not longer than forty-five (45) calendar days after the event. 


 
 The presentation of a grievance to the grievant’s immediate supervisor shall be a 


prerequisite to the institution of a formal grievance. 
 


15.6.2 Formal Grievance 
 
(1) Initiation.  If the grievant believes that the grievance has not been resolved to his or her 


satisfaction after the informal presentation, the grievant may initiate a formal grievance.  
The formal grievance shall only be initiated by completing, verifying and filing the 
prescribed form with the grievant’s Operations Manager within ten (10) calendar days 
after the informal presentation.  The completed form shall contain: 


 
   (a) The name of the grievant; 


 
   (b) The class title; 


 
   (c) The mailing address of the grievant; 
 


(d) A clear statement of the nature of the grievance citing applicable provisions 
of this MOU or the applicable policy or procedure; 


 
(e) The date upon which the event occurred forming the basis of the grievance; 


  







 


 28 


   (f) A proposed solution to the grievance; 
 
   (g) The date of the execution of the grievance form; 
 


(h) The date of presentation of the informal grievance and the name of  the 
person to whom presented; 


 
   (i) The signature of the grievant; 


 
   (j) The nature and signature of the grievant’s representative, if any. 


 
(2) Step One.  Operations Manager Level.  Within fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt 


of a formal grievance, the Grievant’ s Operations Manager shall investigate the grievance, 
confer with the grievant in an attempt to resolve the grievance, and make a decision in 
writing to be provided to the grievant. 


 
(3) Step Two.  Executive Director Level.  If the grievance is not resolved in Step One to the 


satisfaction of the grievant, the grievant may, within not more than ten (10) calendar days 
after receipt of the Operations Manager’s decision or the expiration of the time limit for 
the Operations Manager’s decision, file a written appeal to the Executive Director.  Within 
fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the written appeal, the Executive Director or his 
or her designee shall investigate the grievance, which shall include a meeting with the 
concerned parties, unless such meeting is waived by mutual agreement of the parties 
and thereafter shall give a written answer to the grievant, which such answer shall be final 
and binding unless appealed by the grievant or Association. 


 
 Step two is the final step of appeal for all disciplinary actions up to and including 


suspensions of three (3) days without pay or less and the answer of the Executive Director 
shall be final and binding. 


 
 By mutual agreement, the parties may elect to utilize the services of a mutually agreed 


upon mediator or a State Mediator prior to Step 3 of the Grievance Procedure. 
 
 (4) Step Three. Arbitration Level. 
 


(a) If a grievance has been properly processed through Step Two, and has not been 
resolved to the satisfaction of the grievant, then the grievant may appeal the grievance 
to Arbitration. 


 
(b) To request Arbitration, the request for arbitration must be filed with the Executive 


Director within (10) days of receipt of an answer at Level Two of the Grievance 
Procedure, or expiration of the time limit for such answer. 


 
(c) The parties may mutually agree upon the selection of the arbitrator or shall jointly 


request the State of California Mediation and Conciliation Service (SMCS) to provide 
a list of seven (7) names of persons qualified to act as arbitrators. 


 







 


 29 


(d) Within fourteen (14) calendar days following receipt of the above-referenced list, the 
parties shall select the arbitrator.  The right to strike the first name shall be determined 
by lot and the parties shall alternately strike one name from the list until only one (1) 
name remains, and that person shall be the arbitrator. 


 
(e) The parties agree that the arbitrator shall not add to, subtract from, change or modify   


any provision of this Agreement and shall be authorized only to apply existing 
provisions of this Agreement to the specific facts involved and to interpret only 
applicable provisions of this Agreement. 


 
(f)  Upon completion of the hearing, the arbitrator shall prepare and forward to the Agency 


Executive Director and the Association written findings of fact.  The decision of the 
Arbitrator shall be final and not subject to appeal.  


 
(5) Costs.  Costs of the mediator/arbitrator (if any) shall be borne equally by both parties.  


This shall include costs of court reporter and transcription if mutually agreed upon prior 
to hearing. 


 
ARTICLE 16. SENIORITY  
 
16.1 Definition Of 


 
 16.1.1 Agency Seniority 


 
Date of hire by the Agency into a regular full-time or part-time position shall be used for 
the calculation and bidding of vacation time. 
 


16.1.2 Classification Seniority 
 
Classification seniority is defined as the period of most continuous service in the 
employee’s classification, including higher classifications. Classification seniority shall be 
used to determine the order of shift bidding and layoffs.  Probationary employees may be 
placed on a shift at the supervisor’s discretion for purposes of training in designated 
employee classifications.  
 


16.1.3 Ties in Seniority 
 
When two or more employees are hired on the same date, the order of seniority shall be 
determined by the employee’s ranking upon hire or appointment to the classification. 
 


16.1.4 JPA Transfers 
  
 The Employer agrees to meet and confer over seniority issues of employees who transfer 


to YECA through the JPA and the impact on employees covered by this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 







 


 30 


16.1.5 Seniority List 
 
 The Agency shall provide a seniority list to the YCDA annually in August. The list shall 


include the employees’ name, agency seniority, current classification and classification 
seniority date.  


 
16.1.6 Seniority upon Re-employment from Extra Help Status 


 
A regular employee who has resigned his/her regular status position, but has stayed on 
as extra help, who is later rehired to regular status may retain seniority if: 


  
A. The extra help employee is rehired as regular employee within one year of his/her 


resignation from a regular status position. The employee’s seniority will be reinstated 
for the continuous time served in a regular position prior to the resignation; or  


 
B.  If it has been one year or longer since the extra help employee left full-time 


employment, the employee will only receive credit for the extra help hours worked 
for up to a maximum of two (2) years of seniority credit. 


 
16.2 Seniority for Assignment of Overtime 


  
16.2.1 Overtime 


 
Voluntary 
 
Voluntary overtime will be given to the most senior employee requesting the overtime 
shift, providing that there is a reasonable distribution of overtime shifts for all employees 
requesting overtime.  Regular employees shall receive first opportunity to sign up for 
posted overtime. 
 
Involuntary 
 
The Agency may assign employees to mandatory overtime to meet minimum staffing 
requirements.  Employees so assigned will be the least senior, providing that there is a 
reasonable distribution of involuntary overtime for all employees.   


 
ARTICLE 17. LAYOFF  


 
17.1 Layoffs 
 


When, for reasons of lack of funds, lack of work, or the reduction in number of positions, the 
Governing Board has determined that a layoff is necessary, the appointing authority shall cause 
such layoff to be effected in accordance with the provisions of this Article. 


 
17.1.1 Notice 
 
 The employee shall be given written notice of layoff at least twenty (20) calendar days in 


advance of the effective date of such layoff.  The notice of layoff shall include the following 







 


 31 


information: the reason of the layoff, the effective date of the layoff, the displacement 
rights, and the employee’s rights relating to the layoff. 


 
17.1.2 Scope of Layoffs 
 
 Layoffs will be by classification based upon seniority in that classification. 
 
17.1.3 Breaks in Seniority 
 
 Any employee laid off after acquiring regular status shall, after reinstatement, regain the 


seniority credit the employee possessed at the time of layoff. 
 
 Periods of approved absences shall be credited as continuous employment. 
 
17.1.4 Bumping Rights  
 


Any employee who is laid off from a higher classification (including supervisors) shall have 
return rights to a previously held classification within the bargaining unit based on 
classification seniority as defined in 16.1.2. 


 
17.1.5 Preferential Rehire Rights 
 
 For a period of twelve (12) months, the names of employees who were laid off and/or 


reduced in class, or displaced, shall be placed on the reemployment list for their class at 
the time of layoff in the order of seniority.  Any vacancy occurring in the class in which the 
employees have been laid off shall be filled by a person on preferential rehire status for 
that class, provided the person is qualified and available for the position. 
 
An individual on preferential rehire status may accept extra help appointment or 
appointment to a temporary position and not lose preferential rehire status. 


 
ARTICLE 18. NO STRIKE CLAUSE 
 
No Agency officer or employee shall engage in, encourage, or suggest any strike, work stoppage, 
slowdown, sick-in, mass resignation or any other similar job action which would involve or cause a 
substantial interruption or interference with the normal Agency work during the term of this MOU. 
 
ARTICLE 19. SEPARABILITY OF PROVISIONS 
 
If any section, clause or provision of this Memorandum of Understanding is declared illegal by final 
judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidation of such section, clause or provision shall 
not invalidate the remaining portions hereof, and such remaining portions shall remain in full force and 
effect for the duration of this Memorandum of Understanding.  Upon such invalidation, the parties agree 
to meet and confer concerning substitute provisions for provisions rendered or declared illegal. 
 
 
 
 







 


 32 


ARTICLE 20. JOINT LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  
 
A Joint Labor Management Committee shall be convened at the written request of the Association up 
to a maximum of four (4) times per year.  The Committee shall be comprised of three (3) employees 
appointed by the Association and an equal number of management employees and shall meet on 
Agency time.  Appropriate topics for discussion include equipment and process changes, safety issues 
and updates on recruitment and staffing changes. Issues subject to meet and confer, grievances and 
disciplinary issues are not appropriate topics for the JLMC to review.  
 
ARTICLE 21. RESIGNATION AND REINSTATEMENT 
 
A regular employee who has resigned in good standing shall be eligible for re-employment with the 
Agency.  Upon resignation, all accrued vacation, annual leave and compensatory time shall be paid to 
the employee.  All accumulated sick leave shall be forfeited.  If the employee is rehired within one year 
following the effective date of their resignation, they shall be eligible for seniority reinstatement. 
 
Seniority shall be calculated by reducing the number of actual calendar days absent from employment 
during the one-year period, (i.e., an employee absent for one-hundred fifty (150) calendar days will lose 
one-hundred (150) calendar days of seniority).  Seniority is defined in Article 16, in the MOU between 
YECA and YCDA. 
 
Sick leave, vacation and annual leave will not be reinstated.  Sick leave, vacation and annual leave 
shall be accrued in accordance with the established rate outlined in the MOU based on their date of 
reinstatement. 
 
ARTICLE 22 - ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 
The Parties hereby acknowledge that each has had the unlimited right and opportunity to raise and 
meet and confer over any and all subjects within the scope of representation, and that the results of 
those discussions are set forth in the written MOU.  This written MOU sets forth the full and complete 
MOU between the Agency and the Association on all subjects generally or specifically addressed and 
contained herein. 
 
ARTICLE 23. TERM 
 
This Memorandum of Understanding will be in full force and effect from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 
2021.  Either party may reopen this Memorandum of Understanding by notice to the other party no later 
than sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date of the MOU.  The Side Letters attached hereto as 
Appendix B and C will remain in effect for the terms specified therein. 
 


 


/// 


 


 


 


/// 


 


[Signatures Next Page] 







 


 33 


 


 


YOLO COUNTY DISPATCHERS’   YOLO EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS 


ASSOCIATION     AGENCY 


 


 


 


By:        By:        


      Stephanie Taylor, President                     Dena Humphrey, Executive Director 


 


Date:     Date:       


 


 


 


By:        By:        


      Chris Brewer, Vice President          Leah Goodwin, Operations Manager     


 


Date:       Date:     


 


 


 


By:        By: __________________________________ 


      Amanda Garrison, Secretary         Corina Macias, HR Coordinator 


 


Date:       Date:     


 


 


 


By:                   By: __________________________________ 


      Kristen Root, Treasurer Darrell Murray 


 Labor Relations Consultant 


Date:        Industrial Employers & Distributors Ass’n 


 


 Date:     


 


By:        


      Chuck Flesher  


Labor Relations Consultant 


Mastagni, Holstedt, A.P.C 


 


. 


Date:      


 


 


 


  







 


 34 


APPENDIX A – BASE WAGE RATES 
 


Effective July 1, 2018 (Dispatch Assistant Classification Only) 
 
DISPATCH ASSISTANT CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1            $20.29 
2            $20.89 
3            $21.93 
4            $23.04 
5            $23.04 
 
 


Effective the first day of the first full 
pay period falling on or after January 1, 2019 


 
DISPATCH ASSISTANT CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1            $20.29 
2            $20.89 
3            $21.93 
4            $23.38 
5            $24.54 
 
DISPATCHER I CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1              $21.52 
2            $22.16 
3            $22.83 
4            $23.52 
5            $24.24 
 
DISPATCHER II CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
6            $28.00 
7            $29.00 
8            $30.00 
9            $31.00 
10            $32.00 







 


 35 


DISPATCHER III CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1            $33.60 
2            $34.27 
3            $34.96 


 


Effective the first day of the first full 
 pay period falling on or after January 1, 2020 


 
DISPATCH ASSISTANT CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1            $20.70 
2            $21.31 
3            $22.37 
4            $23.85 
5            $25.03 
 
DISPATCHER I CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1              $21.95 
2            $22.60 
3            $23.29 
4            $23.99 
5            $24.72 
 
DISPATCHER II CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
6            $28.56 
7            $29.58 
8            $30.60 
9            $31.62 
10            $32.64 
 
DISPATCHER III CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1            $34.27 
2            $34.96 
3            $35.66 







 


 36 


 
 
 


Effective the first day of the first full 
 pay period falling on or after January 1, 2021 


 
DISPATCH ASSISTANT CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1            $21.11 
2            $21.74 
3            $22.82 
4            $24.33 
5            $25.53 
 
DISPATCHER I CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1              $22.39 
2            $23.05 
3            $23.76 
4            $24.47 
5            $25.21 
 
DISPATCHER II CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
6            $29.13 
7            $30.17 
8            $31.21 
9            $32.25 
10            $33.29 
 
DISPATCHER III CLASSIFICATION: 
 
Step No.         Base Hourly Wage Rate 
 
1            $34.96 
2            $35.66 
3            $36.37 


 


 


 


 







 


 37 


APPENDIX B 
 


Side Letter 


 


 


The Yolo Emergency Communications Agency (“Agency”) and the Yolo County Dispatchers 


Association (“Association”) enter into the following Agreement (“Agreement”) in accordance 


with AB 119 (2017): 


 


1.  The Agency will notify the Association President of any new hire in a bargaining unit 


position within ten (10) days of hire.  The notice will include, to the extent known to the Agency, 


the employee’s: 


 


 a.  name 


 b.  classification 


 c.  date of hire 


 d.  Work telephone number; 


 e.  Home telephone number; 


 f.   Personal cell phone number; 


 g.  Personal email address; 


 h.  Home address 


 


2.  The Agency will provide the Association the opportunity to access the orientation of each 


new Agency employees in the bargaining unit for the purposes set forth in Government Code 


section 3555.   


 


3.  The Agency will notify the Association in advance of the scheduled date, time and location of 


the orientation as provided in Government Codes section 3556.   


 


4.  The Association will be granted up to sixty (60) minutes at the commencement of the 


orientation to provide the employee with informational materials and otherwise communicate 


with the new employee(s) concerning the rights and obligations created by the Memorandum of 


Understanding, the role of the Association in negotiating and effectuating the terms of the 


Memorandum of Understanding, and to answer questions.  One employee member of the 


bargaining unit selected by the Association will be released from duty to provide or assist the 


Association’s non-employee representative with the orientation. 


 


5.  The scheduled orientation period will not be extended, delayed, or rescheduled to 


accommodate failure of the Association representative(s) to timely appear for part or the entirety 


of the sixty (60) minute period, except by permission of the Agency Director (or designee).   


 


6.  The Agency will schedule the new employee to attend the Association presentation.  


However, the Agency will not compel the employee to attend the Association presentation if the 


employee wishes to refrain from such attendance.  Nothing in this MOU shall be construed to 


abridge an employee’s rights under the Myers, Milias, Brown Act. 


 







 


 38 


7.  Any dispute over the meaning, interpretation, or application of this Agreement shall be 


resolved under the time limits and grievance procedure set forth in the Parties’ 2018-21 


Memorandum of Understanding.   


 


8. This terms covered by this Agreement are negotiated independent of negotiations over the 


terms of the parties’ general Memorandum of Understanding, as provided by AB 119 and the 


impasse procedures set forth therein. This Agreement shall remain in effect through December 


31, 2021.  It shall remain in effect on a year to year basis thereafter unless either party gives 


written notice to the other, within the one hundred eighty (180) days immediately preceding 


December 31, 2021 or the December 31 of a subsequent year if automatically renewed, that it 


wishes to renegotiate its terms.   


 


Done this day,     . 2018. 


 


For the Agency:     For the Association: 


 


 


 


By:         By:        


        Dena Humphrey             Stephanie Taylor 


        Executive Director            President 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 39 


APPENDIX C 
 


Parties: 


 


The Parties to this Side Letter of Agreement (hereinafter “Agreement”) are the Yolo Emergency 


Communications Agency (hereinafter “Agency”) and the Yolo County Dispatchers Association (hereinafter 


“Association”).  


 


Background: 


 


During the negotiations that culminated in the 2018-21 Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) between the 


Parties, the Association proposed that the Agency adopt a Retiree Health Savings Account plan for employees 


in the bargaining unit, and that it make contributions to the account of each such employee.  The Agency 


rejected the proposal.  However, the Agency expressed willingness to further study the various alternative 


vehicles that exist for retiree health savings.  As a result, the Parties have entered into this Agreement. 


 


Terms: 


 


Within the first twelve (12) months following adoption of the Parties’ 2018-21 MOU the Agency will study 


Retiree Health Savings Accounts, VEBAs and other possible methods available under the law to save efficiently 


for uninsured medical costs.  If the Agency Executive Director and Board conclude that one or more such 


methods may merit implementation, it will notify the Association and meet with it to discuss possible 


implementation of that vehicle.  However, it is understood that by initiating and having such discussion the 


Agency is not guaranteeing the implementation of such a vehicle or that it would make an Agency contribution 


to employee accounts within any such vehicle that may be implemented. 


 


Duration: 


 


This Side Letter of Agreement shall expire on December 31, 2021 and will thereafter have no effect unless 


subsequently otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.   


 


Done this day,      , 2018 


 


For the Agency:     For the Association: 


 


 


 


             


Dena Humphrey     Stephanie Taylor 


Executive Director     President 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 







